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= he IRA has been one of the world’s most

important revolutionary movements, embody-

ing some of the most powerful forces in

modern world history: nationalism, violence, socialism

and religion. The movement has been pivotal in the

interwoven histories of Ireland and Britain, but its

full significance reaches far beyond the politics of

those islands into the world of non-state political
violence so prominent today.

Richard English’s brilliant book offers a detailed
history of the IRA, providing invaluable historical
depth to our understanding of the modern-day
Provisionals, the rnore militant wing formed in 1969
dedicated to the removal of the British Government
from Northern Ireland and the reunification of
Ireland. English examines the dramatic events of the
Easter Rising in 1916 and the bitter guerrilla war of
1919-21; the partitioning of Ireland in the 1920s
and the Irish Civil War of 1922-23. Here, too, are the
IRA campaigns in Northern Ireland and Britain dur-
ing the 1930s, 1940s, 1950s and 1960s. English
shows how the Provisionals were born out of the
turbulence generated by the 1960s civil rights
movement; examines the escalating violence; the
introduction of British troops to the streets of
Northern Ireland; the split in the IRA that produced
the Provisionals; the introduction < internment in
1971 and the tragedy of Bloc v in 1972.
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Glossary

An Phoblacht/Republican News (AP/RN) — An Phoblacht (AP) was the
Provisional republicans’ Dublin-based newspaper during 1970-9; Republican
News (RN) was their Belfast-produced paper during the same period. In the
autumn of 1978 it was decided that the southern An Phoblacht and the
northern Republican News would amalgamate as An Phoblacht/Republican
News. In January 1979 the new paper appeared, Republican News having
effectively absorbed An Phoblacht. The early editors of AP/RN were Danny
Morrison (1979-82), Mick Timothy (1982-5) and Rita O’Hare (1985-90).

Ard fheis — Convention.

Christian Brothers” Schools (CBS) — Schools run by the Irish Catholic lay
teaching order initially established by Edmund Rice (1762-1844).

Clan na Gael — Irish American revolutionary organization, founded in the
nineteenth century to pursue Irish independence from Britain.

Cumann na mBan — Literally, ‘the league of women’: a twentieth-century
Irish women’s republican organization.

Fenians — Members of a revolutionary movement active in Ireland and in
Irish America. Emerging in the mid-nineteenth century, the Fenians sought
Irish independence from Britain and aimed to achieve this through the use of
force.

Gaelic Athletic Association (GAA) — Founded in 1884, a cultural nationalist

organization which promoted Gaelic games such as hurling and Gaelic
football.

Gaelic League — Set up in 1893, an organization pursuing the revival of the
Irish language.
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Preface

Funerals. The first was for IRA man Thomas McElwee, on 10 August 1981,
in the small County Derry town of Bellaghy in the north of Ireland.
Thousands attended. Throughout the day there was a heavy police presence
in the town and six British Army helicopters hovered overhead. McElwee had
died on hunger strike, and was the ninth Irish republican prisoner to do so
in that tragic 1981 sequence occasioned by their battle for political status. He
had died on 8 August after refusing food for an incredible sixty-two days.
And he had died young, only twenty-three years old. The funeral reflected
understandable, personal grief at his death — at one stage his eight sisters
carried the Irish-tricolour-draped coffin, and his twenty-one-year-old brother
(also a prisoner) had been released to attend the Catholic funeral. One of the
priests at the graveside was a cousin of the dead man, and he was buried only
a few feet from the grave of another cousin, Francis Hughes — a fellow IRA
hunger-striker who had died just three months earlier. For McElwee’s funeral
was an IRA as well as a personal occasion. The coffin was flanked from his
parents’ home by six men and six women in paramilitary uniform. Before the
cortege moved off, three IRA men fired volleys of pistol-shots over the coffin.
Thomas McElwee had been in prison for the manslaughter of Yvonne
Dunlop in 1976. On the afternoon of Saturday 9 October, Mrs Dunlop had
been looking after the family shop in Ballymena, County Antrim, with her
eight-year-old son. At 1 p.m. an IRA bomb — the first of at least fifteen in
Ballymena that day — exploded in the shop. Yvonne had shouted at her boy
to get out; he did so and his screams drew the attention of passers-by.
Firemen and others tried vainly to rescue Yvonne from the blazing building
as her son looked on. His mother, trapped inside the shop, burned to death.
So in October 1976 there had been another funeral, this time in Ballymena.
And this time the graveside service had been conducted by a Presbyterian
minister, assisted by a Congregational clergyman who was a cousin of Mrs

xxi
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Dunlop. The large cortége included the dead woman’s father, brothers and
sister. In his grief, Yvonne’s father commented hauntingly about the killers of
his daughter: ‘All I would ask of these people is why, why take the life of an
innocent young girl, and leave three innocent youngsters without a mother?”
Yvonne Dunlop was twenty-seven years old, her two_younger children aged
six and four; Thomas McElwee was a member of the IRA team that carried
out the Ballymena bombings.

This book does not argue that these two deaths neatly mirrored one
another. Ultimately, Thomas McElwee had responsibility for both of them, in
a way that Yvonne Dunlop had for neither. But both deaths were tragic,
poignant products of a conflict at whose centre the Provisional Irish Repub-
lican Army has found itself for over thirty years: to make sense of these
deaths (and of thousands of others arising from the conflict) one must under-
stand this revolutionary organization. Aspects of IRA history from earlier
generations have been studied in admirably rigorous fashion,? and the pre-
Provisional IRA has been impressively contextualized in wide-angled thematic
surveys of Irish history.> But the Provisionals themselves — easily the most
sustained, and arguably now the definitive, exemplars of the IRA tradition —
have been treated much less carefully, and have received much less in the way
of serious analysis. Despite the existence of numerous — often fascinating —
books on the subject, much writing about the Provisionals has lacked rigour:
it has sometimes relied on patchy research and a shaky grasp of Irish history,
and much of it has been marred either by a hazily romantic approach or an
unhelpfully condemnatory spirit. Indeed, there remains no full* study of the
Provisional IRA, no genuinely authoritative, accessible book which — through
exhaustive, original research — systematically addresses the questions: what
has the IRA done, why, and with what consequences? Armed Struggle is
intended to fill that gap. The aim has been to produce a rigorously argued
book — based on thorough, innovative research — and one that avoids both
romantic indulgence and casual, simplistic condemnation in analysing the
true nature of the Provisional IRA.

The book is based on the widest range of sources ever used to study the
Provisionals: interviews, correspondence, archives (including those only
recently released), memoirs, newspapers, tracts, parliamentary records, organ-
izational papers, films, novels — as well as a mass of books and articles relating
to the subject — all testify to the wealth of material available, ironically, for an
examination of this secret army. Much of the material has not previously
been examined or published. But, while the book is thus based on compre-
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hensive scholarly work, it is intended also to be accessible and readable. The
Notes and References and the Bibliography are there for those who want to
pursue details; but readers who find such things distracting can approach the
book purely as a dramatic narrative. In structure, it is precisely that: a
chronological story, albeit one layered with argument and analysis. Part One,
‘History 1916-63’, builds historical foundations on which to base an under-
standing of the modern-day Provisionals. The pre-twentieth-century Irish
physical-force tradition, with its rebellions and its secrecy; the dramatic events
of the 1916 Easter Rising and of the 1919-21 guerrilla war; the partitioning
of Ireland in the early 1920s and the Irish Civil War of 1922-3 — all will be
considered, since all provide important points of reference for Provisional
thought and action. So, too, the IRA campaigns in Northern Ireland and
Britain during the 1930s, 1940s, 1950s and 1960s provide an important line
of descent for modern Provisional republicanism.

Part Two, ‘Protest and Rebellion 1963-76’, examines the birth of the
Provisionals out of the turbulence generated by the 1960s civil rights move-
ment, and it does so with unprecedented detail and precision. It looks at the
loyalist reaction to civil rights agitation, the escalating violence of the late
1960s, the introduction of British troops to the streets of Northern Ireland,
the split in the IRA which produced the Provisionals, the introduction of
internment in 1971, the tragedy of Bloody Sunday in 1972, the appallingly
high levels of killing in the early 1970s and the battle within the northern
Catholic community between the Provisionals and rival political forces.
Bombings in Britain and bloody conflict in the north of Ireland figure
prominently in these years.

Part Three, ‘Prisons and Politics 1976—88’, looks at the dramatic prison
war over political status, which culminated in the 1980-1 IRA hunger strikes.
It builds on much new archival and interview material to detail this pivotal
phase in the IRA’s struggle. It also analyses their shift, in the late 1970s, to a
different organizational and strategic approach, with the army adopting an
attritional long-war policy towards their conflict with Britain. And it deals
with the IRA’s military campaign during a period that included the 1979
killing of the Queen’s cousin, Louis Mountbatten, and the 1984 attempted
killing of the then Prime Minister, Margaret Thatcher. This section of the
book also scrutinizes the Provisionals’ emergence as a more committedly
political force in the 1980s, one influenced by — and increasingly significant
within — Northern Irish and Anglo-Irish political developments.

This politicization of the Provisional movement, embodied in a more
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dynamic Provisional Sinn Féin party, made possible the changes addressed in
Part Four, ‘Peace? 1988—2002". The latter details the Provisionals’ gradual
immersion in the 1990s Northern Ireland peace process: their talks with
constitutional nationalists such as John Hume; their initially cautious dialogue
with the British authorities; and the evolution of a-process involving mile-
stones such as the 1993 Anglo-Irish Joint Declaration, the IRA ceasefires of
1994 and 1997 and the 1998 Belfast Agreement. This section also offers the
first fully researched consideration of why the IRA so dramatically shifted
ground during the peace process of the 1990s.

Having told the story, from history through to the present day, the book’s
Conclusion then offers an analysis of this organization. Who were its victims?
What were the motivations of its Volunteers and leaders? How plausible were
its arguments, and what have been the achievements, consequences and
legacies of its violence? The IRA themselves have repeatedly claimed that their
violence was necessitated by the irreformability of Northern Ireland, and by
the extremity of injustice there; are such claims justified by serious interrog-
ation of the evidence now available? The IRA have claimed that only their
revolutionary, aggressive politics could end sectarianism in Ireland; has such
a claim been borne out by events in the last thirty years? How democratic
were Provisional politics, how sectarian, how appropriately considered within
an anti-colonial or a socialist framework?

The Provisional IRA has embodied what have been arguably the most
powerful forces in modern world history: the intersection of nationalism and
violence, the tension between nation and state, the interaction of nationalism
with socialism, and the force of aggressive ethno-religious identity as a vehicle
for historical change. The Provisionals have been vitally important in the
interwoven histories of Ireland and Britain; but their full significance reaches
far beyond the politics of those islands, and into the world of non-state
political violence once again so prominent today. The IRA has been a much
richer, more complex and layered, more protean organization than is fre-
quently recognized. It is also one open to more balanced examination now
— at the end of its long war in the north of Ireland — than was possible
even a few years ago. As one of the republican movement’s ablest political
strategists recently and persuasively suggested, ‘You see, war is easy. You have
to remember that. War is easy because there are the baddies and the goodies.
And you don’t ever have to engage, or think about, or find out the reasons
why people act in the way they do.”> This book, in a sense, is an attempt to
do precisely that: to find out the reasons behind — and the consequences of —
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the Irish Republican Army. It attempts to understand the organization in its
many overlapping contexts: Northern Irish, Irish, United Kingdom, inter-
national; intellectual, historical, social, communal, personal. It aims to study
the Provisionals in a systematic and measured fashion, and to offer the fullest,
most balanced and most authoritative treatment of one of the world’s leading
revolutionary movements.

NOTE

The Provisional IRA was founded in December 1969. In this book, the
title ‘TRA’ — when applied to any date from then onwards — will refer to
the Provisionals. Other groups claiming the title IRA after that date will be
clearly distinguished as such, including the Offical IRA (OIRA), Continuity
IRA (CIRA) and Real IRA (RIRA). (Some observers have referred to the
Provisional IRA as PIRA.)

The term ‘Army’ will refer to the British Army, while ‘army’ will refer to
the IRA.












ONE
THE IRISH REVOLUTION
1916-23

‘The Republic which was declared at the Rising of Easter
Week, 1916, was Ireland’s expression of the freedom she
aspired to. It was our way of saying that we wished to
challenge Britain’s right to dominate us.’

Michael Collins, one of the Irish rebels of 1916!

In literary evocation and political argument alike, the 1916 Easter
Rising has been presented as a watershed in Irish history and politics.
From W. B. Yeats’s ‘terrible beauty’, to the Provisional IRA’s first
public statement in December 1969, to the sexual adventures of Roddy
Doyle’s unorthodox Irish rebel Henry Smart,* the rebellion at Easter
has been told as a central part of the story of Ireland.

It was a truly dramatic event. The eyewitness account of Dublin-
born poet James Stephens (1880-1950) vividly suggests as much: “The
sound of artillery, of rifles, machine guns, grenades, did not cease even
for a moment. From my window I saw a red flare that crept to the sky,
and stole over it and remained there glaring; the smoke reached from
the ground to the clouds, and I could see great red sparks go soaring
to enormous heights; while always, in the calm air, hour after hour
there was the buzzing and rattling and thudding of guns, and, but
for the guns, silence.’> Another recollection was equally evocative: ‘Over
the fine building of the GPO floated a great green flag with the words
“Irish Republic” on it in large white letters. Every window on the
ground floor was smashed and barricaded with furniture, and a big
placard announced “The Headquarters of the Provisional Government
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of the Irish Republic”. At every window were two men with rifles, and
on the roof the parapet was lined with men.’

And it deeply changed many lives, especially with the subsequent
British execution of Irish rebel leaders. “Then came like a thunderclap
the 1916 Rising,” recalled medical student turned IRA leader, Ernie
O’Malley, in 1923; ‘Previous to this 1 had heard a little of the Irish
Volunteers, but at home we always laughed at them as toy soldiers.
Before [Easter] Week was finished I had changed. When I heard of the
executions [ was furious.”” One of O’Malley’s fellow IRA men from
the 1916-23 revolution, Tom Maguire, presented the Rising in equally
life-transforming terms: ‘The Easter insurrection came to me like a
bolt from the blue, I will never forget my exhilaration, it was a turning
point in my life. To think that Irishmen were fighting England on the
streets of Dublin: I thanked God for seeing such a day.’® Yet another
legendary IRA figure, Tom Barry, reflected of his own response that
‘through the blood sacrifices of the men of 1916, had one Irish youth
of eighteen been awakened to Irish nationality. Let it also be recorded
that those sacrifices were equally necessary to awaken the minds of
ninety per cent of the Irish people.”

The seamless identification of self and nation here is telling, for it
has been a persistent part of the Irish republican story. IRA man Liam
Deasy typically recalled: ‘In consequence of the events that occurred in
the decisive week of the Easter Rising of 1916, and more particularly
of the events that followed it, thousands of young men all over Ireland,
indeed thousands of men of all ages in the country, turned irrevocably
against the English government and became uncompromisingly dedi-
cated to the cause of obliterating the last vestiges of British rule in
Ireland. T was one of them.”’® Much more weightily, the very leader of
the 1916 Rising — the poetic and charismatic Patrick Pearse — engraved
himself and his band of rebels permanently into Irish national history.
The Proclamation that Pearse read out at the start of the Rising (in
Dublin on Easter Monday, 24 April) pointed the way, identifying the
rebels with ‘the dead generations’ of Ireland: ‘In every generation
the Irish people have asserted their right to national freedom and
sovereignty; six times during the past three hundred years they have
asserted it in arms. Standing on that fundamental right and again
asserting it in arms in the face of the world, we hereby proclaim the
Irish republic as a sovereign independent state’.!!
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A dramatic military statement against British rule in Ireland, the
1916 rebellion was also a profoundly First World War event. Serious
planning for the Rising began after the commencement of the war,
which provided the opportunity for (and, in rebel eyes, the necessity
of ) an insurrectionary gesture against Britain. With the latter preoccu-
pied and vulnerable, it seemed an ideal time for Irish rebels to strike.
And the 1916 rebels had expressed pro-German views, had looked for
German help and had been promised it. (In both twentieth-century
world wars, militant Irish republicans backed Germany.) Of the specifi-
cally Irish ingredients themselves, the Rising had been planned by
figures within the Irish Republican Brotherhood (IRB) and the Irish
nationalist militia, the Irish Volunteers, and the rebel ranks also
contained people from the labour movement’s Irish Citizen Army
(ICA), whose able leader James Connolly had been admitted to the
revolutionary conspiracy in January 1916. In the event, the Rising
which began on Easter Monday was essentially a Dublin affair. The
General Post Office and other buildings in the Irish capital were
occupied by well over a thousand rebels, who were then militarily
crushed within a week.

The 1916 Proclamation came to be an emblem of modern Irish
republicanism, and for many a kind of national Irish poem. But, poetic
or not, those behind the Rising were also (in the words of a later Irish
republican, Gerry Adams) ‘deadly serious revolutionaries . .. anxious
to exploit by military means Britain’s involvement in the World War’.!2
And the 1916 gesture did indeed help to recast much Irish — and
therefore also British — history. The hundreds killed during the Rising
(most of them civilians)!®> represented small-scale tragedy when set
against the dreadful context of the First World War. But Easter Week
none the less significantly helped to define later Irish politics. For the
executions helped to achieve what the rebellion itself had not — an
intensification of nationalist feeling well beyond the rebel ranks.
Together with the post-Rising arrest and internment of many people,
the executions produced sympathy for that rebel cause which they were
supposed to undermine (a persistent later theme in British responses
to Irish republicanism, as it turned out). The dead rebels became
martyrs. Masses, postcards and badges all honoured them in the post-
Rising period. A cult had come into existence, with a quasi-sacred
quality quickly attaching itself to the rebel leaders after the Rising
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had entered the popular imagination. Catholic Ireland had found new
heroes, and their celebration — unsurprisingly — possessed a markedly
religious flavour.

Along with the ever-compelling Roger Casement,’* the seven
signatories to the rebel Proclamation were themselves among those sub-
sequently executed by the British authorities. Though undoubtedly
born of wartime exigency, these executions movingly and lastingly
haunted political Ireland. It was an awful, poignant sequence. Thomas
Clarke (born 1857), long-time Fenian revolutionary; Thomas Mac-
Donagh (born 1878), poet and teacher; Patrick Pearse (born 1879),
Dublin-born poet, educator, cultural nationalist and revolutionary.
All three were executed on 3 May 1916. Joseph Plunkett (born 1887),
another poet, an IRB man and an Irish Volunteer: married in his
prison cell a few hours before being shot on 4 May. Eamonn Ceannt
(born 1881), educated by the Christian Brothers, a Gaelic League
enthusiast, Sinn Féiner, IRB man and Irish Volunteer: executed on the
8th. Sedn Mac Diarmada (born 1884), a tram conductor and barman,
a Gaelic Leaguer, IRB man, Sinn Féiner and Irish Volunteer; James
Connolly (born 1868), Scottish-born socialist, former British soldier,
talented radical organizer and writer. Both were shot on 12 May.

These deaths had a momentous effect. As one County Clare IRA
man from the ensuing conflict (Sean Clancy) later recalled: “The papers
carried the news, and you could see the change of heart in the people.
Each day, the British shot two or three, dragging it out over a few
weeks. When they shot McDermott [Mac Diarmada], who was basically
a cripple, and then put James Connolly into a chair to shoot him
because his leg was gangrenous and he couldn’t stand, well, that was it
for me. I was utterly appalled and just had to do something.”'* The
British government’s own Commission of Inquiry into the causes of
the rebellion, itself observed ‘that there is always a section of opinion
in that country [Ireland] bitterly opposed to the British connection,
and that at times of excitement this section can impose its sentiments
on largely disinterested members of the people’.’® If this was so, then
the authorities’ own actions in the wake of the Rising helped to
reinforce precisely such a process. And close inspection of the rebels’
last days helps explain their resonance. Patrick Pearse, on the morning
of his execution, wrote movingly and tellingly to his mother: ‘I just
received Holy Communion. I am happy, except for the great grief of
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parting from you. This is the death I should have asked for if God had
given me the choice of all deaths — to die a soldier’s death for Ireland
and for freedom. We have done right.’!”

What did the Rising indicate regarding Irish republican political
thinking? According to one of the most eminent survivors, Michael
Collins, the rebellion had marked a departure from a doubly flawed
Irish nationalist parliamentary strategy: a strategy wrong both for its
suggestion that Ireland was a part of the United Kingdom (rather than
an independent nation), and for its implication that the Irish should
look not to themselves but to England for improving government or
for the gift of freedom. Crucial to republican thinking in 1916 and
long afterwards was this key notion: that parliamentary politics had
been ineffective, and unavoidably so; that constitutional politics were
of necessity compromising and compromised.

Indeed, one of the vital things to recognize about this most
celebrated of Irish rebellions is that 1916 was as much about the battle
between competing Irish political traditions as it was about Ireland’s
struggle against Britain. While there is no crisp boundary dividing
militant Irish separatism from constitutional Irish nationalism, the
sometimes blurred overlap between the two should not obscure the
fact that their respective centres of gravity exist some distance from
one another. And in the battle between these two traditions 1916 was
a crucial encounter. In a powerful series of pamphlets written shortly
before the Rising (a kind of political Four Last Songs: ‘For my part, I
have no more to say’),'® Patrick Pearse had identified his own revol-
utionary politics with the destiny of the Irish nation, by incorporating
iconic and inspirational nationalist figures into his favoured separatist
tradition. Eighteenth-century United Irishman Theobald Wolfe Tone
(1763-98, ‘the greatest of modern Irish separatists’),'® together with
nineteenth-century Irish nationalists Thomas Davis (1814-45), James
Fintan Lalor (1807-49) and John Mitchel (1815-75), were presented
by Pearse as the four crucial people in developing the conception of
the modern Irish nation. In the argument of these Pearsean pamphlets
(Ghosts, The Separatist Idea, The Spiritual Nation and The Sovereign
People), the four heroes embodied a continuous separatist tradition
— of which Pearse’s 1916 rebels were shortly to become the latest
contingent. Against the proper standards of Tone, Davis, Lalor and
Mitchel, the most recent political generation in Ireland (dominated by
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constitutional nationalists) had, in Pearse’s view, failed most appall-
ingly; but he and his conspiratorial comrades would soon and utterly
change all that.

In creating this separatist Valhalla Patrick Pearse had necessarily
constrained a more complex historical realify into a compellingly
simple argument: that the authentic Irish political attitude was sep-
aratism from Britain.? Here he and his 1916 comrades were firmly
in the nineteenth-century Fenian tradition. In 1858 James Stephens
(1825-1901) had launched a secret revolutionary group in Dublin,
dedicated to the establishment of a democratic Irish republic. The fog
of Conradian mystery here is nicely reflected in Stephens’s organiza-
tion being known initially precisely as that: “The Organization’, or ‘The
Brotherhood’. But the term ‘Fenian’ came to be used to refer to this
group — in Ireland and also in America, where a large immigrant
population provided it with fertile ground for growth. Though drawing
on a Catholic constituency and overlapping, at times, with constitu-
tional nationalist projects, the Fenians clashed with the Church and
with constitutional political forces. And they were emphatically defiant
rather than deferential. As one leading Irish historian has remarked,
‘the real importance of Fenianism lay less in its ideas than in its
attitude (with a capital A, as it were): it embodied an inspirational
sense of character-building, a posture of self-respect, and the repudia-
tion of servility. The Fenian, even without an actual rebellion, was a
mental revolutionary.’?!

But the Fenians could also engage in actual revolutionary violence,
as in their 1867 Rising or their activities in Britain. In December 1867
a fatal Fenian explosion in Clerkenwell, London — part of an unsuc-
cessful attempt to rescue imprisoned Fenians — earned them the scorn
of Marx and Engels (Marx: ‘Dear Fred, The last exploit of the Fenians
in Clerkenwell was a very stupid thing’; Engels: ‘The stupid affair in
Clerkenwell was obviously the work of a few specialised fanatics’).2
Yet the Fenians, despite their overriding priority of Irish national
independence, displayed more than a hint of social argument and
grievance too. And they held a significant appeal: within a decade of
their foundation, they appear to have attracted well over fifty thousand
members. In their attitudinal defiance, their bombings, their primary
focus on independence and their flirtation with social radicalism, the
Fenians perhaps provide a pre-echo of later Irish republican politics.
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They certainly represent a reservoir from which the 1916 rebels drew.
For it was the Fenian IRB whose members planned the 1916 Rising,
and that rebellion had deep roots in this clandestine, conspiratorial
tradition of Irish republicanism.

But, much to Patrick Pearse’s annoyance, it had not been this
Fenian revolutionism that had dominated late-nineteenth- and early-
twentieth-century Irish nationalist politics. Instead, the agenda had
been set by the more moderate approach of the Irish Parliamentary
Party (IPP), with their goal of Home Rule or limited autonomy for
Ireland; the zealous politics of Patrick Pearse and his 1916 comrades
were deeply atypical in the Ireland of that period. Indeed, pre-Rising
Irish politics were built upon the pervasive expectation that Home
Rule would come — one of those many anticipated Irish futures which
surprised people by not occurring.?* Shortly after the outbreak of war
in 1914 an Irish Home Rule Bill was passed in London (its implemen-
tation suspended for one year or until the end of the war). The
constitutional tradition had, it seemed, gained its objective. Catholic
Ireland broadly favoured the anticipated Home Rule Ireland, a self-
governing place in which their own power would be increased, their
own culture more prominent. (As an IRA novelist, Peadar O’Donnell,
later sneered, ‘with Home Rule on the doorstep, middle-class Ireland
queued up for the offices that were to be given out’.)** The expectation
of John Redmond, IPP leader 1900-18, was that Home Rule would
produce a benign era of good relations in Ireland (certainly one of
those futures that did not happen). Redmond, the less famous succes-
sor to Charles Stewart Parnell in the constitutional tradition, exhibited
a comparatively inclusive and moderate approach to Irish nationalist
politics. He was emphatically non-revolutionary, eschewing extremes
and devoting himself to peaceful and democratic political methods.

But his Home Rule ambitions were fiercely resisted by Irish — and
especially Ulster — unionists. The neurotic and brilliant Edward Carson
helped to lead this resistance, and unionism emerged as a lasting
obstacle to the achievement of Irish nationalist goals. For while 1912
had seen the introduction of the Third Home Rule Bill, it had also
witnessed the unionist Ulster Solemn League and Covenant, by which
thousands pledged themselves to oppose Home Rule. This gesture was
underlined with the formation in early 1913 of the Ulster Volunteer
Force (UVF), a body which offered the prospect of paramilitary muscle
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deployed in defence of unionist politics. So both Ulster unionism and
Irish nationalism showed themselves in the early twentieth century to
involve constitutional and extra-constitutional strands and strategies.
Ambivalence towards at least the possibility of some kinds of violence
(specifically, one’s own) now emerged as a key and durable aspect of
twentieth-century Irish politics.

In a charmingly ironic instance of the Manichean relationship
between Ulster unionism/loyalism and Irish nationalism/republican-
ism, it was the creation of the aggressive UVF that prompted the
formation of what was to become the IRA. Witnessing unionists
bearing arms in opposition to Home Rule, nationalists responded
with a similar gesture in Home Rule’s defence. Thus in November
1913 in Dublin the Irish Volunteers were established, a militia whose
Irish title was to be that of the IRA into which the Volunteers later
evolved: Oglaigh na hEireann (Volunteers of Ireland). Major players
in the creation of the new body included scholarly patriot Eoin Mac-
Neill (1867-1945), prosperous County Kerry figure Michael Joseph
O’Rahilly (1875-1916) and northern nationalist Bulmer Hobson
(1883-1969). The interrelation and timing of these rival — unionist-
versus-nationalist — militias reinforce a point later made by one
talented IRA man of the post-Rising era, George Gilmore,* namely
that it would be wrong to assume that the threat of violence entered
Irish politics with the 1916 rebellion: ‘The Rising, as we know, failed
in its objective, but it did not, as we are sometimes told, “bring the
gun into politics”. The gun was always in politics.’>®

But the guns of 1916 — many of them held by militant Irish
Volunteers — nevertheless had a powerful effect. For one thing, they
helped to sink the Home Rule project of constitutional Irish nationalists
like John Redmond. The latter’s enthusiasm that Irish nationalists
support Britain in the First World War ultimately damaged his party in
Ireland, as wartime disaffection vis-a-vis the British cause grew during
that conflict. And where Catholic Ireland in 1914 had been dominated
by the IPP, post-1916 politics witnessed deep change: constitutional
nationalism became eclipsed by an aggressive, revolutionary version of
nationalist politics, embodied by those who endorsed the revolutionism
of 1916. The IRA of 1919-21 were to be at the centre of this revolution-
ary approach. Redmond himself had certainly felt that the Rising was
aimed at destroying Home Rule and the IPP (‘even more an attempt to
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hit us than to hit England’, as he put it),?” and the rebellion must be
seen as a gesture against the Irish parliamentary tradition as much as
against British rule in Ireland. By 1918, with Home Rule still not
implemented, Irish nationalist politics had been radicalized, and the
1916 Rising had been a vital step along that path.

For its celebrants saw 1916 as having achieved more than much
longer periods of constitutional nationalist activity had done; and as
having done so in an entirely appropriate, defiant, proud spirit. To
those who believed in an innate national consciousness, it seemed that
the Rising had caused the awakening or rebirth of the Irish nation. In
the view of one Easter rebel and later IRA man, Florence O’Donoghue,
‘The military failure of the Rising proved to be less significant than the
effects of its impact upon the nation’s mind ... In Easter week the
historic Irish nation was reborn.’?® But it was not a stand-alone event
as much as a marked accelerator of trends that can be seen prior to
and after Easter Week itself. Yes, 1916 increased nationalist disaffection
vis-a-vis the British war effort; but such disaffection was evident before
Easter’s drama. Yes, the Rising deepened sectarian animosity in Ireland,
the vast majority of Irish Protestants being appalled by an overwhelm-
ingly Catholic rebellion which they perceived as back-stabbing wartime
treachery. But pre-1916 Ireland was already a deeply sectarian place. In
response to perceived and actual discrimination against them by Irish
Protestants, Irish Catholics had produced numerous assertive bodies
aiming to promote Catholic interests. Perhaps understandably,
many Catholics had looked to dominate the new Ireland which they
had expected Home Rule to inaugurate; the domination that they had
experienced at the hands of Irish Protestants would be replaced by
their own pre-eminence.

Yes, 1916 helped give birth to a period in which an alternative,
more aggressive brand of Irish nationalism replaced that of the
IPP, with Sinn Féin (‘Ourselves’) enjoying successes in a number of
by-elections in 1917 and ultimately coming to triumph throughout
nationalist Ireland. But Sinn Féin’s success was by no means due
exclusively to the 1916 Rising. The 1918 conscription crisis — when
Britain threatened to impose conscription upon a significantly unwill-
ing Irish population — considerably strengthened Sinn Féin’s hand as
that party reaped the benefit of understandable anti-government feel-
ing, amid a campaign in which the Catholic clergy were prominent
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and significant. Prior to the conscription crisis, small numbers of
determined Irish Volunteers had looked for confrontation; with the
threat of conscription, the militant nationalist cause seemed attractive
to many more than these small numbers. IRA man Peadar O’Donnell
underlined this point, disputing the view ‘that the Tan War [the
1919-21 War of Independence] and the Sinn Féin struggle arose out
of the 1916 Rising’. Even the post-rebellion executions, he argued, did
not ‘promote the national uprising’: ‘I don’t believe that the executions
of 1916 would have passed into ballads like 98 [the 1798 rebellion]
only that the threat of conscription came on its heels and that it was
the threat of conscription that forced the people onto their feet.”?
Even Sean Clancy, that 1916 celebrant from Clare, stressed the import-
ance of the 1918 crisis: “The British government wanted to introduce
conscription ... but nobody here wanted to get involved. We’d fight
in our own country, for our own country, but not in an army we
detested.”® So the Rising of 1916 helped to destroy the constitutional
IPP and to reshape Irish nationalist politics; but its role was as an
important part of a wider, longer process of demolition and change.
One kind of change which emphatically did not occur in the post-
Rising years, or for some time to come, was the recreation of Ireland
or of Irish nationalism along socialist lines. Yet one of the most
talented and prominent of the 1916 rebels had indeed been a revol-
utionary socialist: James Connolly. Shelves of work have been devoted
to the study of this strikingly able radical,’’ and in particular many
pages to the question of Connolly’s involvement in the rebellion itself.
There have been many detractors, and also those — like the talented
socialist republican historian, C. Desmond Greaves (1913-88) — who
have celebrated Connolly’s involvement in 1916. (Greaves judged the
Rising ‘militarily sound’,*> and considered Connolly the Irish labour
movement’s ‘greatest leader, thinker and hero’.)** A number of points
seem clear. Though he remained committedly socialist himself, James
Connolly’s socialism did not define the ideology of the 1916 rebellion
as a whole. The Proclamation certainly lacked his definitive commit-
ment to class conflict; and the respective ideologies of Connolly and
Pearse clearly diverged on significant points. Connolly had defined the
republican struggle in terms of revolutionary class conflict; Pearse had
not done so, preferring instead a multi-class, communalist approach.
Connolly had read Irish history in emphatically material terms: ‘As we
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have again and again pointed out, the Irish question is a social
question, the whole age-long fight of the Irish people against their
oppressors resolves itself, in the last analysis, into a fight for the
mastery of the means of life, the sources of production, in Ireland.’*
By contrast, Pearse had explained Ireland’s past in terms more spiritu-
alized, more ethereal and less determined by the changing nature of
economic relations. Pearse and Connolly were the two giants of the
1916 rebellion; but it was the former rather than the latter who had
the more defining influence on the politics of the Rising. The durable
and powerful legacies of 1916 did not include a socialist definition of
the Irish republican struggle.

‘Our only regret was that the escort had consisted of only
two Peelers instead of six. If there had to be dead Peelers at
all, six would have created a better impression than a mere
two.”
Dan Breen, on the January 1919 republican ambush at
Soloheadbeg, County Tipperary, which killed two RIC men®

Thus 1916 has to be painted on a broad historical canvas; the battles
between nationalism and unionism, between competing brands of the
former, between Ireland and Britain, all preceded and all continued
long after the heroic statement of Easter Week. Certainly, there is a
case to be made for seeing the events of the Rising as umbilically tied
to those of the years leading up to 1921, when a measure of Irish
independence was attained after the War of Independence. That war is
usually seen to have begun in 1919, but its roots clearly went much
deeper. And many of those who emerged prominently in the 1919-21
struggle had been identified by the authorities in the immediate post-
Rising period. Richard Mulcahy,* 1916 rebel and later Chief of Staff
of the Volunteers, was after the rebellion put in the Class A category
of interned rebels: people who were ‘prominent extremists and most
disloyal’. Mulcahy was an important figure in the IRA’s 1919-21 war;
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so, too were the Brennan brothers, Michael and Patrick from County
Clare — after 1916, considered by the authorities to be ‘most disloyal
and extreme’.”” For the Rising was an important reservoir of revol-
utionary enthusiasm, and one upon which later republicanism drew
heavily. Lines of influence or inspiration were not necessarily neat.
Dan Gleeson, a County Tipperary IRA man who joined the Irish
Volunteers in 1917, recalled having been impressed, during the
1914-16 period, by the politics of Sinn Féin founder Arthur Griffith’s
Nationality, an Irish nationalist newspaper which first appeared in
1915.% Griffith’s own brand of nationalist politics was far from clear-
cut republican, and his own preference was not for the use of political
violence. Thus distinctions between the various wings of Irish nation-
alism during these crucial years were far from clear; there could be a
separatist, revolutionary tinge to politics not always seen in that light.
What happened during 1916-21 was that this complex political
painting came, gradually, to be cast in more lurid, aggressive, violent
colours. There was, for one thing, a very great change in what
membership of republican groups actually meant and involved during
the five years after the Rising. Between 1916 and 1921 the Volunteers/
IRA* changed from a body of largely non-violent protest to one of
extremely violent anti-state activity. After 1916 there were Volunteer
attempts to obtain arms by raiding civilians as well as Crown Forces
(the problem and importance of weapon-acquisition being a priority
for the embryonic IRA as it was to remain one for the organization’s
later incarnations). The reaction of the British authorities in Ireland
to such operations produced a frictional dynamic which led to the
escalation of the Anglo-Irish conflict. Yes, in 1917 and 1918 Volunteer
activity mostly involved gestures of public defiance. But these years
also saw Volunteers in prison, being rendered more militant and
zealous as a result; and the police frequently raided and searched the
houses of Volunteers and of members of the nationalist political party,
Sinn Féin; arresting such people raised rather than lowered the political
temperature, as a largely quiescent Irish nationalist people gradually
became host to a major revolutionary movement. Following raids,
imprisonment, confrontations with police and warders, incremental
immersion in greater and greater activity, the state (already of dubious
legitimacy in Irish nationalist opinion) was increasingly defined as
hostile. Arrests were often counterproductive, pushing people into the
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next stage of commitment, anger and involvement. Prison played a key
role here: from 1916 onwards, incarceration helped to cement people
together as Irish republicans, to intensify their anti-British convictions
and to produce exactly the opposite of the authorities’ intended effect.

In 1917 Sinn Féin — originally a non-violent, non-republican
nationalist party — was reorganized and committed itself (slightly
ambiguously) to an Irish republic. In the post-Rising period this party
harvested most of what had been sown in 1916, and by the time of the
UK general election in December 1918 Sinn Féin was set to triumph
within nationalist Ireland. Although it won under half of the total vote,
the party nevertheless gained seventy-three seats to the IPP’s dismal six
and the twenty-six won by unionists. This was a resounding and very
impressive success for the party claiming inheritance to the 1916 legacy
and, following their victory, Sinn Féin set up an alternative parliament
in Dublin — Dail Eireann — which comprised those Sinn Féiners elected
in 1918 and not imprisoned. This First Dail became, for republicans,
the truly legitimate authority in Ireland.

A kind of rebel government was formed, with the Ddil choosing a
cabinet which included leading military men such as Michael Collins,
Cathal Brugha*® and Richard Mulcahy — men who would play a major
role in leading the IRA’s 1919-21 war against the British. Sinn Féin’s
rebel government was in part political propaganda. It was far from
being a fully functioning government, but it did represent a striking
way of questioning British legitimacy in Ireland. If such a rival
parliament could be elected, renouncing British rule, then where did
that leave British legitimacy? Irish republicans were trying to produce
a kind of republic within the old British order, and they fiercely
proclaimed the superior legitimacy of their post-1918 regime. As the
quixotic Erskine Childers put it in 1919, the Dail was ‘composed of
the elected representatives of the Irish nation, and the only authority
in Ireland with the moral sanction of a democracy behind it’.*
And as the republican chronicler Dorothy Macardle lucidly expressed
it: “The Irish people had applied the principle of self-determination
to their own case with an unequivocal result’; the 1918 election ‘had
recorded an overwhelming demand for independence’.*

It was on 21 January 1919 that Dail Eireann first met in Dublin. A
Declaration of Independence was read and endorsed, proclaiming the
[rish a free people committed to complete independence from Britain.
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A democratic programme was adopted, a statement of social and
economic policy almost certainly more radical than the actual views of
most Dail members. On the same day, by chance, a Volunteer ambush
in County Tipperary saw two Royal Irish Constabulary (RIC) men
fatally shot. The coincidence of timing might give an impression that
parliamentary and military republican forces were seamlessly one at
this point; in fact, the Soloheadbeg ambush in Tipperary was the
product of local initiative rather than political or central command.
Indeed, the operation was conceived precisely because of a fear by local
republican military men that they were (in the words of Dan Breen,
one of the Soloheadbeg ambushers) ‘in great danger of becoming
merely a political adjunct to the Sinn Féin organisation’.** There was
no major violent action by republicans for two months after Solohead-
beg; there was no sudden, pre-planned escalation to war, and such
activity remained at low levels during 1919, with many ordinary
Volunteers understandably reluctant to get involved in violence.

Political movement had, however, occurred. In April 1919 Eamon
de Valera* (dramatically sprung from Lincoln Jail two months earlier)
was elected by the Dail as President of the Council of Ministers. De
Valera was now head of the Irish government, in republican eyes, and
as such he appointed a new cabinet: Arthur Griffith (Home Affairs),
Count Plunkett (Foreign Affairs), Cathal Brugha (Defence), Michael
Collins (Finance), W. T. Cosgrave (Local Government), Constance
Markievicz (Labour), Eoin MacNeill (Industries). Of these newly
prominent figures, Collins was to run a kind of revolution-within-the-
revolution. Ddil Minister of Finance, Volunteer Director of Organiz-
ation then Intelligence, he had also (in May 1919) become President
of a revivified IRB, a position that he held until his death three years
later. This IRB, as a secret organization that continued after the
foundation of Dail Eireann, reflected the tendency of these years
towards overlapping revolutions, towards conspiracies within the
revolutionary conspiracy.

Collins and the other cycling revolutionaries (Richard Mulcahy later
recalled that ‘For [Collins] as for the rest of us the bicycle provided
mobility; this was our main protection’)*> were to witness a gradual
growth of violence during 1919, with the IRA during that year
becoming rather more of an army: guns and fighting now became
a more significant part of what it involved, and in mid-1919 the
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organization was duly proscribed. The logic of these years was fre-
quently that of an escalatory, tit-for-tat dialogue of violence.** Some-
imes the tit-for-tat cycle burned out quickly; sometimes it continued;
aind sometimes it resulted in violence becoming more widespread. In
the last two situations, the appropriate image is one of violence as a
self-sustaining phenomenon. From 1918 onwards, the British response
0 republican subversion frequently involved punishing the wider
population for IRA activities: this had the unintended - indeed,
counterproductive — effect of strengthening the very IRA that it was
ntended to undermine. Republican action provoked state reaction;
violence was followed by revenge then counter-retaliation and then
war. British reprisals undermined British legitimacy in Irish nationalist
‘and other) eyes; ‘Their campaign of terror was defeating itself’, as
Ernie O’Malley wrote of 192147 Leading County Clare IRA man
Michael Brennan wrote of the same year that ‘the British reprisals,
nstead of turning the people against us as the cause of their miseries,
1ad thrown them strongly behind us’.#® Crown Forces, frustrated at
not being able to convict those responsible for attacking, injuring and
<illing their comrades, resorted to reprisals targeted against violent
opponents, but affecting (and causing disaffection among) much wider
numbers than that. And to republican enthusiasts such actions were
the inevitable, necessary consequence of malign British involvement in
[reland: ‘A war of conquest, such as England’s war against Ireland,
develops, inevitably, into a campaign of terrorism against the people.’*

Provocation, retaliation and counter-revenge between the opposing
sides produced sequences of interlocking reprisals and cycles of vio-
ence which — once ignited — could prove nastily self-fuelling. The local
nature of such dynamics is important: here, as so often, it was local
impulses and attrition rather than centralized planning that drove the
War of Independence. IRA activity in these years was unevenly spread:
it was especially intense in the south-west of Ireland (Cork being a
particular fire-centre) and in Dublin city, and local revolutionism was
the prism through which national republicanism tended to be viewed.
Linked to this was the vital role played by certain individuals in
attracting people to the IRA, in leading them and stimulating action,
in determining the pace of local war. The IRA operated very much
at local level according to spontaneous local initiative, much less
a centralized army than an aggregation of varied local groups, with
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Headquarters following the localities at least as much as the other way
round.

In 1920 the war escalated; in the spring the first IRA flying columns
came into existence, spontaneously, in active areas. These units came
in a variety of sizes and types: as ever, the IRA did not conform to one
neat pattern. The emergence of bodies of committed men in these
columns was very important. Physically detached from home com-
munities, these full-time soldiers on the move could engage in
ambushes over wide areas; having broken with their former lives, they
lived life on the run amid an atmosphere of utter commitment and
of deepened contact with comrades. Until autumn 1920, most IRA
Volunteers still lived at home, and were brought into action for
IRA activities that did not involve violence; only a small number
of IRA people had at this stage gone beyond this. But those who had
left their home areas were much more likely to engage in offensive
violence. Once active IRA men became separate from the restraining
influences of their community, then killing became easier. These were
the people who drove the war, just as their image came to define a
much later memory of the IRA: the romantically alluring, trench-
coated gunman, living the outlaw life of insurrection.

Romantic images abound from these years, whether in later crea-
tions (such as writer Ronan Bennett’s television drama, Rebel Heart)>°
or in evidence from the IRA’s own activities, such as one Westmeath
IRA man’s revolutionary honeymoon in 1920, during which his wife
carried a Mills bomb and a Parabellum (a pistol)!*! But, romantic or
not, the 1919-21 war undoubtedly grew vicious. During 1920-1 there
was much violence which would have shocked most Irish people only
a few years before. Many of those killed during the conflict — on all
sides — were in no position to defend themselves. Just as in later phases
of Irish republican-British conflict, the deaths often came less out of
battle than out of the armed killing of undefended opponents. The
sequence of killings was a gruesome one. In March 1920 Tomds
MacCurtain (1884-1920) — Cork 1916 rebel, and subsequently IRA
leader and Sinn Féin lord mayor of Cork — was shot dead in front
of his wife (probably by the police). In October of the same year
MacCurtain’s fellow 1916 Cork rebel, fellow IRA man and successor as
Sinn Féin lord mayor of Cork, Terence MacSwiney (1879-1920), died
in a London prison on hunger strike after a brave seventy-four days.
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And the following month saw more dreadful violence. On 1 November
1920 the IRA’s youthful Kevin Barry was hanged in Mountjoy Jail for
his part in an IRA raid in Dublin in which three (youthful) British
soldiers had been killed. It seems that the execution was partly intended
to prevent Army reprisals for IRA attacks.> But Barry none the less
entered popular Irish republican memory, not least because a famous
ballad was to focus upon him. Heroic, self-sacrificing and unquestion-
ably dignified in the face of execution, Barry was in death deployed to
help discredit British government in Ireland: his youth and bravery
offered valuable publicity for the anti-British cause.

Then on 21 November 1920 — the original Irish ‘Bloody Sunday’
— the IRA in Dublin struck at the British intelligence network, kill-
ing over a dozen people and wounding six (some of these victims
not, in fact, being intelligence agents). Later in the day more killings
took place: two arrested IRA men (Dick McKee and Peadar Clancy)
were killed — allegedly while trying to escape; and at a Gaelic football
match in Dublin’s Croke Park, Crown Forces (searching for wanted
men, and perhaps coming under fire) killed twelve people. Those
responsible for the Croke Park killings were Auxiliaries, a Division
recruited from among demobilized British Army officers and first
arriving in Ireland in the summer of 1920 (owing to the rising
temperature of the war there). The Auxiliaries gained a reputation —
often deservedly — for brutality and reprisal. (They too suffered, of
course: a week after Bloody Sunday, eighteen Auxiliaries were killed by
the IRA at an ambush in County Cork.) The Black and Tans (British
ex-servicemen recruited to reinforce the police in Ireland, and initially
decked out in mixed uniform) became similarly notorious for retalia-
tory excesses:*>> ‘a body whose unsavoury record stinks in the nostrils
of the civilised world’,>* as they were described by one republican
opponent. In September 1920 the killing of a police officer in Balbrig-
gan prompted the Black and Tans to terrorize the County Dublin
town, in a spree of burning and violence which left two men dead.
The sack of Ba]briggan became, justly, famous. But even compara-
tively minor acts by the Tans could become etched into lasting Irish
nationalist memory as evidence of their unambiguous villainy. County
Donegal poet Pat Doherty thus recorded a 1921 Tan raid on Carrow-
menagh which was rough but far from lethal, the concluding lines of
his poem declaring:
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But on the general judgement day,

When they stand at God’s right hand,

There will be little mercy for the military,

And a damned sight less for the Black and Tans.>

The inability of the RIC to deal with the IRA had prompted the
introduction of Crown Forces, who intensified the conflict and who
helped to undermine the British cause in Ireland. And the British
authorities were plagued (as they were to be in the north in the late
twentieth century) by a refusal to acknowledge how widespread Sinn
Féinish sympathy actually was.

It was not only in Ireland, however, that the IRA were active during
the War of Independence. IRA units active in Britain itself were formed
in 1919 and 1920, with notable groups in Liverpool, London, Man-
chester and Newcastle. Perhaps a thousand men enrolled in the British
IRA during the period July 1920-July 1921, most of them born or
brought up or permanently settled in Britain, and there were hundreds
of IRA actions in Britain during 1920-1.5¢ In the words of one IRA
man and Sinn Féiner active in England during the revolution, ‘There
is no doubt that by the activities of the IRA in Britain much uneasiness
was created.”” But the centre of IRA gravity lay, of course, in Ireland
itself. And here the battle between the IRA and the police, the RIC,
was a vital one. One County Galway IRA activist of this period, Padraig
O Fathaigh, held the RIC to be ‘the most bitter and most potent
enemies of Irish national movements’,”® and certainly they were a
potentially destructive opponent. The pre-First World War RIC had
been local figures of some importance, experiencing deference and
respect in the community; as one leading historian has neatly put it,
‘Pre-war policemen touched their caps less often than other caps were
touched to them.”” These men were Irish and most of them Catholic.
But their local knowledge and activities were dangerous for those
very different Irish people who comprised the IRA. So republicans set
about excluding the RIC from Irish society through systematic social
ostracization, with the consequence that the RIC’s sources of local
information tended to dry up and render them less effective in counter-
ing republican subversion.

Delegitimizing and ostracizing the local law-enforcers — brutal
though it frequently was — made considerable revolutionary sense. De
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Valera himself had favoured the social ostracism of the police, and the
Dail decreed a peaceful boycott in April 1919: social contact, and those
places frequented by the RIC, were to be avoided. So, during 1918-20,
efforts to isolate the force spread across nationalist Ireland. People
were warned, as in County Roscommon in June 1920, ‘to have no
intercourse with the RIC, that there was a general boycott of that
force’. Such efforts yielded results. In the same month the authorities
noted, in relation to similar notices in County Mayo, that the boycotted
police were ‘only able to obtain supplies through friends, who smuggle
them in in the early hours of the morning’. On 26 June of the same
year, at Drumshambo, County Leitrim, police discovered a notice
warning people against further dealings with the RIC; subsequently,
the police were refused supplies. Anti-police activity could be more
menacing still, embodying darker attitudes and actions. On the 28th
an RIC constable was shot and wounded while home on leave in the
Tralee district of County Kerry, the authorities noting that the motive
was ‘to deter the constable and compel him to resign’.®® People were
individually and brutally targeted for their dealings with the police.
In July 1920, a woman who cooked for the RIC (Mary Dufty of
Carrickmacross, County Monaghan) was ‘threatened with death if she
does any police cooking’.*! Girlfriends of policemen and soldiers were
frequently subjected to the brutal removal of their hair.

There were IRA attacks on outlying RIC barracks. Police officers
were therefore moved to larger barracks, with the IRA then destroying
those that had been evacuated.®> By the end of 1919 the physical
separation of police from people had developed a long way; by mid-
1920 the RIC was in deep crisis. Ostracizing the police was a crucial
precondition to shooting them, and the RIC were a major target for
the IRA during this war (165 being killed in 1920 alone).®*> Represen-
tatives of the British state in Ireland, and local opponents of some
value if interwoven into the community, their isolation was a symbolic
and practical strategy for the IRA.%*

By mid-1921 a stalemate had emerged in this localized, often brutal
war. Many Volunteers felt that the weak position of the IRA effectively
forced upon republicans the decision to accept what the British were
to offer in the Treaty later that year; but it is far from clear that the
IRA were in fact defeated by the summer of 1921. They were certainly
possessed of an intense republican commitment. But what did this
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entail in practice? What was the IRA’s thinking in the 1919-21 War
of Independence? The political foundation of their thought was self-
determination for Ireland: British rule in Ireland denied the Irish right
to independence; as such it was profoundly illegitimate. To the aristo-
cratic Irish republican and former 1916 rebel, Constance Markievicz,
English law in Ireland in 1919 was ‘but legalised oppression’;® to the
IRA’s Tom Barry, it was the Crown Forces of 1920 that were truly
‘the terrorists’.*® After the 1918 general election and Sinn Féin’s suc-
cess, republicans considered they had been given a powerful mandate.
Speaking about that election, the fiery Dan Breen observed: ‘It was the
greatest manifestation of self-determination recorded in history. On
the principles proclaimed by Britain and her allies, our claim to
complete independence was unanswerable.’*” Britain’s difficulties with
Catholic Ireland had long existed: the 1800 Act of Union had created
the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, and had been
followed by a century during which much Irish political energy had
gone into movements espousing some form of nationalist cause. Now
there was an aggressive, combative republican movement, with a
military wing, demanding full sovereignty and independence from
Britain as an absolute right.

Not that these revolutionaries set out neatly defined blueprints of
the Ireland they sought. Far from it. For their capacity to hold together
a broad-based movement during 1919-21 depended on their not
defining too precisely the kind of end-product they desired. Even
Sinn Féin’s 1917 commitment to a republic had been equivocal and
ambiguous: ‘Sinn Féin aims at securing the international recognition
of Ireland as an independent Irish republic. Having achieved that
status, the Irish people may, by referendum, freely choose their own
form of government.*® For it was not just strict republicans who
were in the republican movement, and cracks would start to become
clear once definite political possibilities were discussed. For the period
up until 1921, however, an ill-defined republic was offered as the goal
of a united republican movement; and the IRA claimed to represent
everyone and every creed in their avoidance of overly specific — and
therefore divisive — political programmes.

In a sense, the simpler the politics, the better. For the IRA of these
years — a prototypical guerrilla force — was primarily in the business of
soldiership, and it was military thinking on which it focused. Just as
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Patrick Pearse had ultimately decided upon a hostile view of parlia-
mentary compromises, so likewise did the IRA of 1919-21. They held
that force was essential to the achievement of progress and freedom
for Ireland. It did not matter to the IRA that in the 1918 general
election Sinn Féin had not campaigned for a mandate to use force in
driving the British out of Ireland. For, just as in 1916, no prior
electoral mandate was deemed necessary for the use of violence in
freeing one’s country. And while sheer survival was the primary task
for IRA units in the localities, the republican army did have aims
which nicely combined the rational and the visceral. One could hit
back at Britain — for immediate and longer-standing wrongs inflicted
upon the Irish — while simultaneously pursuing a rational strategy:
namely, to raise the costs of British engagement above the level at
which Britain judged them worth paying. If British government were
to be paralysed in Ireland, if British forces carried out reprisals that
undermined the authorities in Ireland (and embarrassed them in
Britain and abroad), then some kind of leverage might be gained over
a far more powerful enemy than could be defeated in the field. Revenge
and rationality could be served with the same rifle. So it was the
principles of General Clausewitz, rather than those of Wolfe Tone, that
ultimately guided the IRA of 1919-21: ‘If our opponent is to be made
to comply with our will, we must place him in a situation which is
more oppressive to him than the sacrifice which we demand.’®®

Armed with this premise, small groups of people could indeed
change the world — provided that their own intense views produced
echoes among a wider population. If nationalist Ireland was already
sceptical about the legitimacy of British rule in Ireland, then the state
violence stimulated by the IRA would be seen as oppressive and
illegitimate, and the IRA’s strategy might work, with Irish nationalist
hostility to British rule being deepened by experience of the conflict.
And violence offered not merely a means to the achievement of a
political end, but an appropriate stance, attitude and posture in itself:
the IRA were not asking for Ireland’s freedom, but defiantly grasping
it in their self-reliant, self-respecting hands. Like the Fenians before
them, these were attitudinal revolutionaries, defined as much by their
defiant attitude as by their actions.

*
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What of the relations between the IRA and their political republican
counterparts in Sinn Féin? In some cases they were the same people,
and there are those who have denied any tension or separation between
the 1919-21 military and political wings of the movement. Richard
Mulcahy — eminent IRA soldier and also D&il minister — was one:
‘there was no clash of any kind either of thought or feeling or action
between any of the members of the government or members of the
parliament, and those who were conducting the Volunteer work, either
at top or throughout the country’.” Yet this probably presents too
cosy and neat an image. The IRA long retained an ambivalent attitude
towards the Diil, and not until August 1919 was a serious effort made
to bring the Volunteers under its control. The Volunteer Executive
then agreed that their soldiers had to take an oath of allegiance to the
Dublin Dail, but the military and political wings of the movement
continued substantially separate lives. It was not until the spring of
1921 — by which time the War of Independence was almost over — that
the Ddil agreed that it should publicly accept responsibility for the
IRA’s actions. It would, in fact, have been difficult for the Ddil (as it
was at times even for the IRA’s own central authorities) to impose
control on the army throughout the country.

Thus for a long time the soldiers were not over-keen to be subject
to the Dadil, while the politicians were hesitant to claim authority over
the army. The IRA’s own paper, An t-Ogldch, presented the organiz-
ation as ‘a military body pure and simple’, asserted confidently that
‘the successful maintenance of the Irish Volunteer is the one thing
essential to the triumph of the cause of the Irish Republic’ and stressed
that IRA men ‘should not allow their political activities to interfere
with their military duties’.”! There was, at times, an anti-political
quality to the IRA’s thinking, if politics are held to imply constitu-
tional-style practice. For if the IPP’s parliamentarianism was seen as
useless (or worse), embodying betrayal and compromise, then there
might also be grounds for anxiety about even republican politicians.
It was ‘as a soldier’”? that Ernie O’Malley saw himself, and his IRA
comrades shared that self-image (Dan Breen: ‘I was a soldier first
and foremost’;”> Tom Maguire: ‘I always had what I will call military
leanings. 1 loved reading about battles, both at home and abroad’).”
And while their violence was clearly political violence — arising from
a political conflict, and reflecting political beliefs and goals — it was
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emphatically violence rather than politics that defined the army’s self-
image. The IRA had, in the words of one of their eminent figures —
Liam Lynch - ‘to hew the way for politics to follow’.”> And for many
of these men the 1919-21 struggle, and their soldierly career during
those years, represented something of a mythic period in their lives:
the most successful part of their career, and a glorious high-ground
which their post-revolutionary experience would never succeed in
recreating or recapturing.

And if there were political and military dimensions to the IRA’s
thinking, there was also an important cultural argument there too.
No simple causal connection existed between cultural nationalism and
IRA enthusiasm, but during the War of Independence there was con-
siderable overlap in membership and allegiance between the IRA, the
IRB, Sinn Féin, the Gaelic League and the Gaelic Athletic Association
(GAA). The latter two organizations — both late-nineteenth-century
creations — provided the IRA with a reservoir of recruits and cultural
resources upon which to draw. Many Gaelic enthusiasts considered
Ireland’s cultural and political wars to be interwoven, and nationalist
cultural involvement could strengthen militant republican commit-
ment. Defiantly non-English, the Gaelic League, for example, saw the
Gaelic language as a symbol of Irish cultural distinctiveness. Such a
view reinforced the kind of arguments that lay at the heart of the IRA’s
own thinking: Ireland should properly be seen as an independent
culture and polity, fully separate from a Britain that had oppressed
and obscured it for centuries. Authentic Irishness would be restored by
a process of de-anglicization; if the IRA fought to free Ireland politically
from Britain’s grip, then they also looked to emancipate Irish culture
from an ill-fitting British one (Michael Collins: ‘English civilisation,
while it may suit the English people, could only be alien to us’;’® Ernie
O’Malley: “‘We had fought a civilisation which did not suit us. We had
striven to give complete expression to the genius of the race’).”” A free
Ireland would be a Gaelic one.

What of the broader cultural and social thinking of the IRA? They
were overwhelmingly Catholic in background, and the profoundly
religious sense evident among the republican revolutionaries” was one
that was deeply Catholic.” Irish Catholicism was a powerful, pervasive
influence on the intellectual formation of the revolutionary genera-
tion: a disproportionately large number of those involved in 1916 and



26 HISTORY

beyond had been educated at Christian Brothers’ Schools, which
tended more than others to stress the importance of Irish history and
of the glories of a distinctive Gaelic civilization. In the post-Rising
years many Catholic clergy were sympathetic and practically helpful to
the republican political cause. By the early twentieth century, indeed,
Irish nationalist grievance had effectively become the grievance of Irish
Catholics against those (British and Irish Protestants, for the most
part) who had wronged them. Certainly, for many in the IRA itself,
religious identification and national identification were inextricably
interwoven, with a clear interlinking of national with religious faith.®°
Similarly, the soul of the nation was tied to the spirit of sacrifice. In
the staccato reminiscences of leading republican Frank Gallagher
(1898-1962), ‘Strange what life death gives ... It seems that only by
tragedy the soul of a people may be saved ... From the beginning of
this awakening, tragedy, or the shadow of it, has been the dominant
motif . .. The executions in 1916; [Volunteer Thomas] Ashe’s death in
1917 [after hunger strike]; the solemn preparations in 1918 to fight
conscription to the death ... The murder of the lord mayor of Cork.’®!

The Irish Republican Army was also a male affair, with the role of
women in the struggle generally celebrated in what a later age would
read as very conservative terms. From Easter Week 1916 to the
early 1920s, female republicans, in bodies such as Cumann na mBan
(Irishwomen’s Council), were emphatically auxiliary to the boys’ own
struggle. 1916 rebel Frank Henderson (1886-1959: CBS-educated, with
a career involving the GAA, Gaelic League and Irish Volunteers)
recalled Cumann na mBan women in the Dublin Rising in terms of
the medical and culinary help that they had offered the men (‘They
cooked our food and served it to us’).®> By 1922 little, apparently, had
changed: ‘The Cumann na mBan ... are providing comforts for
prisoners as far as their resources allow.® The IRA’s Tom Barry
praised the women’s organization as having been invaluable to the IRA
in the War of Independence; but in doing so he set out their decidedly
auxiliary role: the Cumann na mBan ‘were groups of women and girls
from town and countryside, sisters, relatives or friends of the Volun-
teers, enrolled in their own organisation, for the sole purpose of
helping the Irish Republican Army. They were indispensable to the
army, nursing the wounded and sick, carrying dispatches, scouting,
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acting as intelligence agents, arranging billets, raising funds, knitting,
washing, cooking for the active service men and burying our dead.”®

The boys themselves tended to be young (Ernie O’Malley: ‘we saw
things through the eyes of youth’).®> They represented a broad class
spectrum, though with a bias towards the middling classes and with
least representation at the upper and lower extremes, among the very
rich or the very poor.#¢ Some scholars have argued that a key ingredient
in the IRA’s 1919-21 war was a sense of social or status resentment
among a Catholic lower-middle class. On this reading, anger at the
existing order would have sprung from a mismatch between educa-
tional attainment and available employment opportunities, and the key
battle was one between differing sections of the Irish middle class.®”
There is certainly something in this, but it is also true that the IRA
themselves claimed to represent a comprehensive community of all
classes and creeds in Ireland. ‘The boys’, ‘the lads’, ‘the organization’,
presented themselves as embodying an inclusive nation, their own
brotherhood band a microcosm of the new Ireland that they sought to
create. IRA men often joined as part of a group, informal networks of
friendship and camaraderie being carried over into the army.

Yet clearly any definition that made membership of the republican
group meaningful for those inside it, carried also the probability of
excluding those who did not possess the keys to inclusion. If this was
a Catholic organization redressing Catholic grievances, then what of
Irish Protestants? If this was a group that equated anti-separatism with
anti-Irishness, then what of those many Irish people — unionist or
nationalist — who disapproved of the IRA? (Even Ernie O’Malley noted
that a ‘good number’ of Irish nationalists themselves had reservations
about IRA violence.)®® And for those outside the IRA’s community or
group, the Irish revolution could involve dreadful experiences. With
the significant exception of the north-east, Protestants across much of
Ireland had, by 1919, become a rather vulnerable group with little
political power, In County Clare, with an overwhelmingly Catholic
population, republican attacks on Protestants included the burning
of churches, and were motivated by more than the pursuit of land or
arms. But while Clare Protestants during the War of Independence
had reason to fear for their property and security, it should be said
that the IRA did not kill Protestant civilians there. The same cannot be
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said of revolutionary Cork. Here, during the Irish revolution, the IRA
did indeed shoot some people because they were Protestant. For
Protestants were seen as outside the community: what bound the IRA
together necessarily excluded Protestant neighbours. It was not just a
question of shootings: the seizure of farms and the burning of homes
were overwhelmingly targeted at Protestants in County Cork, an ugly
part of the wider sectarian violence that plagued these years in Irish
history, on all sides.®

Police, Protestants, ex-soldiers, tramps, tinkers could all be targeted
by the IRA for the crime of being outside the community in this
vicious political war. Thus the IRA’s revolutionary thinking was many-
layered. They fought for Irish self-determination, for political freedom
from British rule. They espoused the politics of violence and intended
to force Britain to yield, while simultaneously hitting back in revenge
at the old enemy. They wanted cultural as well as political freedom,
an Ireland authentic and Gaelic. They were Catholic revolutionaries,
young, male, cross-class and bound by ties of friendship and local
allegiance. The ideological and the non-ideological interacted here.
Self-determination appealed to the IRA, but so too could the excite-
ment of glamorous, clandestine adventure, and the release from quo-
tidian dullness. These young men were fighting to free themselves from
Britain, but in their defiant fighting they also often freed themselves
from tiresome parental restriction. One owed allegiance to Ireland, but
also to individual leaders and friends whose example could sometimes
be the decisive factor in one’s revolutionary path. The rebels of the
IRA fought out of conviction; but many of them also drew a salary
and found in the alternative republican army a form of professional
satisfaction and reward for which they looked elsewhere in vain,
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‘Sooner or later in political life one has to compromise.

Everyone does.’
Oscar Wilde*

July 1921 brought a truce between the stalemated forces of the British
Crown and the IRA. These were ambiguous days. As writer and
republican Frank O’Connor put it,

No one who lived through it is ever likely to forget the summer of
1921. To some it seemed a triumph; to some, a disaster. Volunteer
headquarters began upon an intensive campaign of organisation,
recruiting, drilling and arming. All over the country summer
training camps were established at which Volunteers were put
through the usual paces of regular soldiers. British headquarters
prepared for real war, gigantic concentration camps, wholesale
roundups ... Yet, for all the preparations for war, there was
throughout the country far too great a feeling of confidence. It
was only natural that this should be so; it was the British who
had asked for peace.”!

But what precisely was the position at the time of the truce? The IRA
were probably far from beaten, at least in the sense of being on the
verge of utter collapse; but they had no sign of imminent victory. So
with neither the IRA nor the British close to landing a knock-out blow,
the logic of stalemate pointed towards compromise.

Certainly, this would make sense for the IRA at some stage. There
had never been any chance of formal military victory over their
imperially powerful opponent, nor — in practice — of the British
recognizing an Irish republic.”2> And it remained far from clear just
how many people — even among Irish nationalists — actually favoured
or would continue to favour an IRA campaign. There was no short-
age of broad republican sympathy — Sinn Féin gained 124 seats
unopposed in the southern Irish elections of May 1921. But Sinn
Féinish sympathy did not automatically mean enthusiasm for IRA
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violence. Still, in August a Second Dadil was formed and in October
1921 a republican delegation (including Michael Collins and Arthur
Griffith) went to London to negotiate with the British (for whom
the main delegates included Lloyd George and Winston Churchill).
De Valera — President of the Diil and leading symbol of the revol-
utionary movement — decided to remain in Ireland. He insisted that
the Irish delegation should consult with the Dublin cabinet before
concluding any deal with the British. His thinking was that his own
formulation (Irish external association with, but not membership
of, the British Commonwealth) should be the limit of Irish com-
promise on the question of relations with the British Crown and
empire. He knew it to be unlikely that external association would be
granted by the British, and he anticipated that their refusal would
lead to the brink of a renewed conflict. Believing this to be a conflict
that the British would, in fact, be reluctant to renew, de Valera
anticipated that at this point he himself would step in and make a
compromise deal, the best one available to the Irish at that moment.
His strategy was thus to retain a veto on any proposed settlement in
London, with a view to his own, personal, last-minute conclusion of
a deal.

But on 6 December 1921, under intense British pressure, the Irish
delegates scuppered their leader’s plan by signing an Anglo-Irish
Treaty; they had failed to hold out until the point at which de Valera
could intervene. De Valera and his cabinet were thus presented with a
Treaty already accomplished, and Irish revolutionary nationalism was
to split violently as a consequence.

The 1921 Treaty involved the setting up of an Irish Free State,
comprising twenty-six of Ireland’s thirty-two counties“tbroadly speak-
ing, the nationalist, southern portion of the island). It offered qualified
autonomy, demanded inclusion in the British Commonwealth, wit-
nessed the formal partitioning of Ireland and meant that the new
Ireland had to stomach symbolic remnants of the British Crown with
an oath of allegiance and a Governor-General. This deal amounted to
more than the Home Rule offer of 1914, though whether the difference
between the two was great enough to judge it worth all the intervening
death, pain and division is a question on which opinion has long
varied. The divide between Irish nationalist and Ulster unionist had
been — perhaps irrevocably — deepened by the events of 1916-21; but
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so too now there was to open up a bloody schism between nationalist
and nationalist in Ireland.

The terms of the Treaty were announced on 7 December 1921.
Seven days later the Ddil began to debate it, a debate which continued
until 7 January 1922 when the epochal Anglo-Irish Treaty was accepted
by sixty-four votes to fifty-seven. Republican Ireland — Dail, cabinet,
IRA, IRB, the Sinn Féin party — was profoundly divided over the
Treaty. In this split, some followed particular leaders and friends, some
were motivated by pre-existing animosities and antagonisms, and all
were focused on the momentous argument that raged. For the Treaty,
spoke the charismatic Michael Collins: a compelling leader, a revol-
utionary administrator and improviser of striking ability; a man who
has latterly become a figure of mythic stature in modern Ireland,
commemorated in book and film alike,”® but one who was contempo-
raneously celebrated too (he was offered £10,000 in the early 1920s to
write his memoirs). This hero and signatory to the Treaty considered
that the deal represented Irish nationalists’ achievement of ‘the sub-
stance of freedom’,** and the best deal then attainable. The Treaty did
not give the revolutionaries all that they had sought; but it could be
the foundation on which the construction of the full republic could
be built, the stepping-stone towards the ultimate goal.

Arthur Griffith, like Collins an eminent signatory to the Treaty,
took a similar approach. Griffith presented it ‘not as the ideal thing’,
but rather as a deal that guarded key Irish interests; it was, he said, ‘a
Treaty of equality’: “We have brought back the flag; we have brought
back the evacuation of Ireland after 700 years by British troops and
the formation of an Irish army. We have brought back to Ireland her
full rights and powers of fiscal control.””> Batt O’Connor (who had
been close to Collins during the War of Independence) read the terms
of the Treaty ‘with profound thankfulness, both for what they gave in
fact, and for what they held in promise for the future’.*¢ Piaras Béaslai,
one of the IRA’s leading publicists, also supported the Treaty, recogniz-
ing both the diffrculties and the attractions of the new deal:

Although nobody seriously expected the Treaty to recognise an
independent republic, separated from the British empire, yet the
terms of the Treaty, when published, seemed a bitter pill to
separatists ... To the ordinary people, whose vague national
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aspirations had not crystallised into reasoned doctrines, the Treaty
appeared in the light of a big victory, a great advance in national
status; and the older generation, remembering their thirty years[’]
support of the Parliamentary Party in a struggle for ‘Home Rule’,
saw embodied in the Treaty enormously more powers for Ireland
than were ever dreamed of in any Home Rule Bill.*”

The Treaty was not the republic; but it offered significant freedoms,
and if it was rejected then how long would the IRA be able to hold
out, if faced with intense war? Such pragmatic reflections made little
impression on some. Eamon de Valera, speaking in Limerick on the
day before the signing, had argued that it was ‘for complete freedom
that they in Ireland were struggling’;”® once the compromise deal had
been struck, many republicans considered that it fell too far short of
that sense of complete freedom. Austin Stack, a leading IRA man and
Sinn Féiner from County Kerry, stated forthrightly that even if the
Treaty ‘gave Ireland full Canadian powers, he, for one, would not
accept that status for Ireland. This country had never been “a child of
England’s”. Membership of the empire, an oath to the English king,
a contract by which Irishmen would acknowledge themselves British
subjects, was abhorrent to him. “Has any man here,” he asked [the
Déil], “the hardihood to stand up and say that it was for this our
fathers have suffered, if it was for this our comrades have died on the
field and in the barrack yard?”’*®

To many of those who opposed the 1921 deal, it was important
that much had been suffered in pursuit of a goal now apparently to
be betrayed. Mary MacSwiney — whose brother Terence was among
the IRA’s famous dead — saw the issue as simply ‘between right and
wrong’: ‘Search your souls tonight [she told the Dail in December
1921] and in the face of every martyr that ever died for Ireland take
an oath in your own hearts now that you will do what is right no
matter what influences have been brought to bear on you.”®

Interestingly, it was not on the partitioning of Ireland into north
and south that opponents of the 1921 Treaty focused their attention;
even in those southern counties close to the new border, the partition
issue was not prominent.'”' Nor was it true that a person’s opposition
to the Treaty automatically implied that they would accept only the
full republic. During the Déil’s private session to discuss the Treaty, de
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Valera introduced his own alternative ‘Document No. 2’ (Document
No. 1 being the Treaty). His alternative was essentially the Anglo-Irish
Treaty plus his own formulation of external association with the
Commonwealth. Although this proposal elicited no great enthusiasm,
and was therefore withdrawn by de Valera, it did show his preparedness
to accept something less than absolute republican separation. Yet many
anti-Treatyites wanted just that: the full republic rather than some
emotionally unsatisfactory compromise. Though it is doubtful whether
IRA zealots’ own aspirations and hopes had ever been fully represent-
ative of wider nationalist opinion, many of these republican soldiers
understandably found it difficult to travel down from their millenar-
ian mountain-top to the less enthralling lower pastures of practical
compromise.

No deal was going to satisfy all shades of opinion within the
revolutionary movement: it had been far too diverse a phenomenon
for that. And there were attractive arguments on both sides of this
increasingly bitter split. Pro-Treatyites could claim that a substantially
free Irish state, with an Irish government in Dublin, deserved to be
recognized as a major achievement; and that the endorsement of this
new world by the Dail and — more emphatically — by the electorate
demanded that the Treaty dispensation be acknowledged as legitimate.
For if the stepping-stone thesis was key to the Dail’s acceptance of the
Treaty, then it seems to have had an even more persuasive impact
upon wider popular opinion. For the June 1922 general election saw
anti-Treaty candidates win only thirty-six of 128 seats, and no anti-
Treaty candidate headed the poll in any constituency; in contested
constituencies, pro-Treaty candidates averaged 5,174 votes, anti-
Treatyites only 3,372.1°2 Irish nationalists had overwhelmingly rejected
anti-Treatyite politics, and in doing so it might be argued that they
were merely recognizing that the realities of power — British versus
Irish — were likely to lead, at some point, to the compromise of full
Irish republican ambition.

Vitally impoxrgant though these points are, however, there remains
no simple equation possible between the 1921 Treaty and democracy
on one side, and anti-Treatyite politics and opposition to democ-
racy on the other. For the context of the 1921 deal was the very real
threat that, if it was not accepted by the Irish, then Britain might go
back to ruthless war in Ireland. The British threat of force meant that



34 HISTORY

Irish nationalists were not making their decision about their future in
the context of a fully free choice. Moreover, the anti-Treaty IRA could
reasonably suggest that their pro-Treaty opponents’ adherence to
electorally expressed majority opinion was inconsistent with the repub-
lican struggle of 1916-21 in which they had all been engaged. If
majority Irish endorsement of something short of full independence
was acceptable in 1922, then where did that leave the legitimacy of the
1916 rebels? If one required an electoral mandate for the pursuit of
IRA violence, then why had they fought from 1919 onwards at all?
Many in the IRA saw their role as that of a vanguard protecting the
prior rights of the Irish nation, an army that led rather than followed
popular opinion. As Ernie O’Malley pithily put it: ‘If [we had consulted
the feelings of the people] we would never have fired a shot. If we gave
them a good strong lead, they would follow.”!%

Anti-Treaty IRA argument, then, had a certain measure of consist-
ency to it. Not reliant on prior mandates — indeed, sometimes rather
scornful of them — the IRA anti-Treatyites felt justified in fighting on
for the full republic. Unlike the majority of the Irish people, the bulk
of the IRA went anti-Treaty. And the painful disintegration of the
revolutionary movement — epitomized in clashes between rival groups
of IRA soldiers over who should inherit RIC barracks'** — often
involved bitter personal divisions and the intensification of pre-existing
antagonisms. The Treaty conflict was a palimpsest, with ideological
and personal layers at times obscuring one another. The sharp divi-
sion between pro-Treatyite Michael Collins and Richard Mulcahy,
and anti-Treatyite Cathal Brugha and Austin Stack, long f)redated
arguments over the 1921 Treaty; throughout the country, personal allegi-
ance frequently mattered more than strict attachment to ideological
principle.

In March 1922 the anti-Treaty IRA rejected the Dail’s authority —
in their view, the Dail had made the wrong choice — and the following
month a section of the anti-Treaty forces took over the Four Courts
building by the river Liffey in the centre of Dublin. Having acquired
this military headquarters, some of the IRA’s ablest irreconcilables
(Liam Mellows, Rory O’Connor, Peadar O’Donnell, Ernie O’Malley)
now defiantly challenged the new regime; other buildings in the capital
were also occupied. The strategy hardly made any practical sense,
though with its echoes of 1916 it had considerable symbolic power.
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The pro-Treaty authorities were not going to allow this Dublin defiance
to persist indefinitely, however, and on 28 June 1922 the Irish Civil
War effectively began when Free State forces (using guns provided by
the British) attacked their former comrades in the Four Courts. ‘What’s
artillery like?” Peadar O’Donnell asked his comrades, shortly before
the bombardment was to begin. ‘You get used to it’ — replied a GPO
veteran from 1916 — ‘It’s not bad.’!*°

But the Four Courts garrison was quickly defeated, and in truth the
Civil War anti-Treaty IRA were poorly led throughout a conflict which
was to last less than a year and which was to end in their defeat. In
December 1922 the Irish Free State — the product of the Treaty — came
into formal existence. Irish independence, of a sort, had been achieved.
For whatever the objections of the anti-Treaty IRA, most people
in the new state viewed its government as legitimate, and this allowed
the Free State regime to achieve greater success against their former
comrades than the British had been able to do. Where British reprisals
had undermined an already shaky British legitimacy, the Irish govern-
ment of 1922-3 could rest on its indigenous credentials while employ-
ing considerable ruthlessness against its diehard republican opponents.
The IRA lost out as a result. There were periods of turmoil during
1922, and no certainty that the pro-Treatyites would win. Yet the
pro-Treaty government was determined to maintain order amid the
chaos of division (‘It is the duty of the government, to which the
people have entrusted their defence and the conduct of their affairs, to
protect and secure all law-respecting citizens without distinction, and
that duty the government will resolutely perform’).!* Within a couple
of months of the start of Civil War, serious anti-Treaty resistance was
largely restricted to south and south-west, and the Free Staters enjoyed
the huge advantage of British backing. The anti-Treatyites were faced
with a larger, better-organized force, and one drawing upon British
material support of a kind simply unavailable to the IRA. Thus poor
IRA leadership — together with governmental legitimacy, ruthlessness
and superior weaponry and supplies — resulted in Free State victory. In
May 1923 the IRA’s Chief of Staff, Frank Aiken, gave the order for
republicans to cease fire and dump arms.

The Civil War was over, and the anti-Treaty IRA had lost, but not
before Valhalla had welcomed more dead warriors. In July 1922, during
the early days of the war, the feisty Cathal Brugha had been fatally shot
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in Dublin; ‘Cathal Brugha was a man of kindliest nature, a sincere
friend, gentle in manner, but ... as firm as steel, and as brave as a
lion.”’?” The following month, Brugha’s great opponent Michael Collins
was killed in an anti-Treaty IRA ambush in County Cork. In April
1923 Liam Lynch (the then anti-Treaty IRA Chief of Staff) was shot
dead, prompting a commemorative poem from Ernie O’Malley:

To a Comrade Dead

Dead comrade! You who were a living force

Are now a battle cry, on our long roll

To nerve us when our hearts grow faint

At thought of the long odds and thorny path
Which still confront us. You, who in life,

Have shown us how to live and now have

Taught us how to die, teach us still.

We children of unbeaten hope who oft have lacked
Courage and strength to further the cause

Of our endeavour — a nation free!'%

The Civil War which led to such deaths was largely a guerrilla one,
with assassination and reprisal and considerable viciousness on both
sides. As ever with the IRA’s story, jail formed an important chapter.
One early-1920s anti-Treatyite prisoner, Frank O’Connor, delightfully
suggested that for an Irish republican to say, ‘“Yes, he and I were in
gaol together,” ... is rather like the English “He and I were in Eton
together” but considerably more classy’!' Classy or not, large numbers
of republicans were incarcerated by the Free State during and immedi-
ately beyond the Civil War. Some IRA men remembered this in
comparatively jolly terms, as in Peadar O’Donnell’s marvellously
Wodehousean memoir, with its optimism, japery and boyish good
humour in the prison wings, amid the sport and the educational
classes.’!” But others presented a gloomier version of early 1920s prison
life. Like Peadar O’Donnell, Ernie O’Malley was after the revolution to
become something of a bohemian writer. But, unlike O’Donnell, his
writings on his 1922—4 imprisonment were heavy in mood. (Indeed,
O’Malley’s prison letters from those years even depressed that ebullient
republican of a later generation, Danny Morrison, during the latter’s
own incarceration during the early 1990s.)!"

And there was indeed much reason for gloom. On 7 December
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1922 (the day after the Free State came formally into being) two Dail
deputies, Sean Hales and Padraic O Maille, were shot in Dublin by the
anti-Treaty IRA. Hales died, O Mdille was injured and panic gripped
the newborn regime. Would there be further assassinations? Would the
resolve of people to stand by the Free State survive any more such
attacks? Something had to be done and it was decided, ruthlessly,
to kill four anti-Treatyites held in jail. So on 8 December the IRA’s
Liam Mellows, Rory O’Connor, Dick Barrett and Joe McKelvey were
executed in reprisal for the shooting of Hales and O Miille. For those
fellow IRA men in the jails, especially, this was a dark episode. Peadar
O’Donnell recorded Joe McKelvey as having been ‘an unyielding
opponent but not a dangerous enemy for he was quite incapable of
deep hatreds. He was predestined to be a martyr in a revolutionary
movement that failed for he would not dodge and he could not
bend.’''? For the unbending outside, however, the reprisals appear to
have had the effect of putting an end to the shooting of elected Free
State representatives; in their awful fashion, the killings of 8 December
helped the new state to survive.

The imprisonment of IRA republicans extended beyond the IRA
defeat of the spring of 1923. In October of that year there occurred a
mass hunger strike, thousands of republican prisoners courageously
refusing food with the aim of securing unconditional release from jail.
The strike collapsed the following month, its strategy of simultaneously
involving so many men making it more difficult to sustain than was
the later, shrewder, Provisional IRA approach which involved far
smaller numbers. But the resilience and bravery of the 1923 hunger-
strikers should not be ignored, and their suffering was an emblem of
their profound republican commitment. IRA Chief of Staff Frank
Aiken wrote to the hunger-strikers in early November of that year: ‘we
know that if one Volunteer ... succeeds in setting the example to his
fellow citizens by voluntarily suffering long drawn out tortures of
the flesh and mind, and offering his life and sufferings to God for the
Republic of Irelapd, that the might and wiles of our enemies will be
powerless to subdue the spirit that such a heroic sacrifice will awaken
in her citizens’.!"?

Profoundly though their politics were infused with religious think-
ing, the anti-Treaty IRA none the less suffered clerical condemnation
in the Civil War for their violence against the new state. The Catholic
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Church excommunicated them and denounced the Civil War IRA
cause. This prompted impish scepticism from Peadar O’Donnell. To
the Church he wrote, ‘“The issue was simple: God versus the republic.
The embarrassing thing was that the vast majority of the nationalist
population insisted on standing by the republic in the name of God.”"*

O’Donnell was exaggerating here. As the August 1923 Free State
general election demonstrated, most people in nationalist Ireland
endorsed the new order: the pro-Treaty party (Cumann na nGaedheal,
formed in April 1923 and led by W. T. Cosgrave) emerged victorious,
with anti-Treaty republicans winning only forty-four of the 153 seats.
This was still a significant body of opinion. But clearly the majority of
people in the Free State favoured that state’s continued existence. What
of that other part of the country, the six counties of the newly created
Northern Ireland? In 1921 James Craig had succeeded Edward Carson
as unionist leader, and later in the year a parliament opened in Belfast
with a comfortable unionist majority."'> This had been intended. For,
faced with the longstanding objection of Ulster unionists to separation
from the UK, London had in desperation opted for the partitioning of
Ireland into two jurisdictions (effectively set out in the 1920 Govern-
ment of Ireland Act, and solidified during the next two years). The
northern portion remained in the UK and covered territory containing
a deliberate unionist majority of approximately two-thirds.!'®

And the unionists were resolved not to be subsumed in a nationalist
Ireland. Speaking in London in November 1922, Lord Carson himself
suggested that ‘any idea of driving Ulster under a southern government
was absolutely out of the question. It was a harmful and a dangerous
dream.” But he also addressed another key point, appealing to Ulster
to show herself ‘just and fair to those who were entrusted to the care
of her government’.!'” For the north-east of Ireland had long been the
setting for sectarian competition, the new state of the early 1920s was
born amid dreadful intercommunal violence,''* and northern Catholics
were understandably alarmed at being the main losers in the 1921
Irish settlement. From early 1922 Michael Collins tried to establish a
strong relationship between the northern IRA and pro-Treatyite GHQ;
and in that year Belfast Volunteers were paid by Dublin to defend
Catholic areas during rioting — reflecting a defensive role which was
long to be a part of the IRA’s self-image in the north. Despite this,
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neither pro- nor anti-Treaty southern forces did much to improve the
position of northern Catholics once partition took effect.

In part, this was because they had urgent priorities in the southern
conflict. But it was also true that to most non-Ulster IRA men, the
north was not in fact a great priority or a place much understood.
Michael Collins himself displayed a sense, as he saw it, of the north-
east’s non-Irishness, when he outlined a rather disdainful attitude
towards that part of the island: ‘A large portion of her fair province
has lost all its native distinctiveness. It has become merely an inferior
Lancashire. Who would visit Belfast or Lisburn or Lurgan to see the
Irish people at home? That is the unhappy fate of the North-East. It
is neither English nor Irish.’''® Ulster unionists might have retorted
that it was Britishness, rather than Englishness, that was at issue; and
northern Catholics might reasonably have felt that — however unap-
pealing to southern romantics — the north contained urgent realities
for them, and ones that Irish republicanism should address. True
enough, the IRA held that partition was unnatural, illogical, unfair and
absurd. As Dublin-born IRA man and writer Brendan Behan
(1923-64) charmingly put it: ‘Like millions of others, I believe in the
freedom of Ireland and to me the border is completely nonsensical. In
one place it actually partitions a farmhouse and you could be having a
shit in the south and your breakfast in the north by simply walking
a few steps.’12°

But it was the day-to-day experience of Catholics in the north that
was to prove historically crucial. In April 1922, the Northern Ireland
Special Powers Act gave the authorities extensive powers to do what
they considered necessary for the maintenance of order. Fearful of
Catholic disloyalty within Northern Ireland, of Catholic irredentists in
the neighbouring state and of British unreliability, Ulster’s unionists
built a state largely in their own image. Unionist, like nationalist,
politics were neither monolithic nor fixed. But the broad pattern for
northern Catholics was to prove that of people in a state which was
markedly unwelco’ming to their political traditions.

At the birth of Northern Ireland, this was sharply evident in the
violence which both preceded and followed the formal founding of
the state. During the period July 1920-July 1922, 557 people were
killed: 303 Catholics, 172 Protestants and 82 members of the police
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and British Army.!?! Notably, there was serious intimidation of Cath-
olics in Belfast’>> and large-scale loss of life there: between July 1920
and June 1922 in the city 267 Catholics, 185 Protestants and three
other people were killed.'>* It should, however, be stressed — as these
very figures demonstrate — that the violence and intimidation of these
days were not all in one direction. There were attacks on unionists
(including the castration and other mutilation of goats owned by
County Antrim unionists who lived in nationalist areas,'?* a powerful
image of low-level sectarian hatred and viciousness). And there were
unpleasantly personalized threats: in August 1920, for example, a series
of threatening letters from Sinn Féin’s Dublin headquarters included
one sent to a Mary Harte, intended to prevent her (a Catholic) from
marrying a Protestant.'?

The violence had a self-sustaining, cyclical quality — an all too
durable feature of northern conflict in Ireland. On the afternoon of
23 March 1922 two Special Constables were killed in Belfast by the
IRA. Early the following morning, in apparent reprisal, a number of
men (said to have worn a kind of uniform) smashed open the door
of Catholic publican Owen McMahon’s north Belfast home. The
occupants of the house were in bed, but the raiders took the men
to the sitting room and shot them. Five people were fatally injured
(Owen himself, his sons Jeremiah, Patrick and Frank, and a barman
named Edward McKinney); two other sons (John and Bernard) were
wounded; and one son escaped. Mrs McMahon and her daughter -
who had been ordered to stay in another room - arrived on the
dreadful scene after the shooting, to see seven bodies in pools of blood.
The wounded John McMahon recalled poignantly of this appalling
episode: ‘T heard my mother plead with the men not to do any harm
to the family.”?* And the spirit of revenge was not confined to Belfast.
On 19 May 1922 the walls of Cookstown, County Tyrone, together
with the doors and windows of Catholics’ houses and offices, were
covered with copies of two printed notices. The first stated that if there
were any more attacks on police or loyalists, then ‘reprisals at the rate
of ten to one will be made on prominent and well-known Sinn Féiners.
God save the King.” The second (which was also served on Protestant
farmers of the district who had engaged Catholic employees) said
bluntly: ‘You are hereby required, within forty-eight hours after the
service of this notice, to clear out of your employment all Sinn Féiners
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and Roman Catholics. Herein fail not at the peril of your life.”**” And
if the killing of Catholics was seen as retaliation for Sinn Féinish
mischief, then it could itself provoke terrible revenge. In the early
hours of 17 June (in reprisal for the killing of two Catholics a few days
earlier), five men and a woman — all Protestants — were killed by the
IRA in the south Armagh townlands of Altnaveigh and Lisdrumliska.

Northern Ireland in the early 1920s witnessed IRA attacks in which
a number of police officers were killed, and the years 1922-4 saw
hundreds of republicans interned by the northern authorities.!?® More-
over, the IRA’s role in these days could be bloody in terms of suffering
as well as infliction. The case of Séamus Blaney provides an example.
A Downpatrick IRA Volunteer, he had joined the IRA’s youth wing,
Fianna Eireann, in May 1918 and was by July 1920 serving as Battalion
adjutant in East Down. On 23 May 1922 he was captured by military
and police, as one of ten men in possession of revolvers, ammunition
and explosives. Two of the ten were wounded, one of them being
Blaney; an attempted IRA rescue was unsuccessful, and he died on
18 January 1923.

So, too, in a sense did the northern IRA during these years, or at
least their hope of undermining the new Ulster state. For the IRA were
defeated in the Northern Ireland of the early 1920s. While nationalists
felt the border to be a scar on the Irish island, unionists considered
partition a reasonable response to profound pre-existing differences in
Ireland. Even Sinn Féin’s triumphant 1918 general election had shown
the potential problem for Irish nationalism posed by a concentrated
north-eastern unionist mass (and one recent scholarly study of work-
ing-class life between 1880 and 1925 has concluded that ‘in many
important ways the developing working-class culture of Belfast had
more in common with Glasgow, Manchester or Bristol than with
Dublin, Cork or Galway’).!?® Yet the nationalist perception that the
north was an illegitimate creation was lastingly retained by northern
Catholics; it was also, understandably, reinforced by the discriminatory
unionist actions that it had helped to encourage.



TWO
NEW STATES
1923-63

‘Twelve vears after Easter Week Ireland remains, unfree and
unredeemed, still bound to the British empire . . . It is twelve
years since Clarke and Connolly and Pearse proclaimed the
Irish republic. It is five years since the last shot was fired in
its defence. Cowardice, treachery and war-weariness have
prevailed; Ireland is again held in the British empire.’

IRA man, Frank Ryan (1928)!

By the summer of 1524, Civil War disorder was largely over and the
two new Irelands — north and south — began to settle into their
partitioned life. The IRA was in something of a tattered state after its
defeat, north and south. Its zealous members had aspired to a united,
fully independent Irish republic; they now witnessed instead a parti-
tioned Ireland, part of which was firmly within the UK, and the other
part of which was still vestigially tied to Britain and ruled over by
the IRA’s treacherous and compromised Civil War adversaries. In the
aftermath of the Civil War, the IRA’s mood was low. As one of their
most talented figures, George Gilmore, put it: “The morale of the army
was not of the best ... We had suffered a thorough defeat in 1923,
and were finding it no easy task to pull things together again and to
restore confidence in the army leadership.’

Yet the army still contained some very able activists, and was to
exude considerable vibrancy during the post-revolutionary years. In
November 1925 the organization regrouped, adopting an amended
constitution which set out its aims and means. The IRA’s four
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objectives were to guard the republic’s honour and uphold its sover-
eignty and unity; to establish and uphold a legitimate Irish government
with total control over the republic; to secure and defend citizens’ civil
and religious liberties and their equal rights and opportunities; and to
revive the Irish language and promote the best characteristics of the
Irish race. The existing Free State order was clearly felt to be illegiti-
mate, and awaiting replacement by the appearance of the true Irish
republic, free and united. But how was this new day to be reached?
The TRA’s 1925 constitution set out emphatically military means: ‘1.
Force of arms. 2. Organising, training and equipping the manhood of
Ireland as an efficient military force. 3. Assisting as directed by the
army authority all organisations working for the same objects.” This
newly adopted constitution described the IRA’s General Army Conven-
tion (GAC) as the organization’s supreme authority, with the Army
Council exercising this role when a GAC was not in session. Should a
proper, full Irish republic be established, then the IRA would hand
over the power of legitimate authority to that regime: ‘The Army
Council shall have the power to delegate its powers to a government
which is actively endeavouring to function as the de facto government
of the republic ... When a government is functioning as the de facto
government of the republic, a General Army Convention shall be
convened to give the allegiance of Oglaigh na h-Eireann [the IRA] to
such a government.”

That the IRA still posed a threat during the post-Civil War years
was evidenced by episodes such as the dramatic escape of nineteen IRA
prisoners from Mountjoy Jail in Dublin in November 1925. Even more
alarming for the Free State authorities were the persistent threats to,
and attacks upon, jurors and witnesses in trials involving republicans
during the late 1920s. The IRA might still be trying to recreate itself
from the wreckage of Civil War defeat; but the state’s difficulty in
obtaining convictions against them in jury trials represented a signifi-
cant victory of a sort. They also engaged in other violent activity. In
November 1926 the IRA attacked garda (police) stations in Tipperary
and Waterford, two police officers being fatally injured. The army’s
actions were not part of a systematic, sustained campaign, but they
could be brutal for all that — as is evident in the casual reflections
of one 1920s veteran: ‘Some silly things happened; 1 suppose that is
inevitable at times. [An IRA] Volunteer went to disarm a Free State
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soldier, and shot dead the girl who was with him. Then there was a
raid on pawn shops, for binoculars of all things, and a pawn shop
assistant was shot.’

This sporadically active IRA had, however, a regular and compelling
mouthpiece in An Phoblacht, the organization’s official paper. From
the mid-1920s for a decade, the paper put the IRA’s argument with
energy and clarity. But while the late-1920s IRA was undoubtedly
gaining some confidence, some of its menacing acts could help to
undermine its ultimate cause. This was spectacularly so with the killing
of Kevin O’Higgins, one of the most talented and important figures in
the Free State regime. Vice-President of the government, O’Higgins
was hated by many republicans as a symbol of the triumph of one
kind of nationalism — procedural, moderate and firm in defence of
the state — over the IRA’s more revolutionary version. On Sunday
10 July 1927 O’Higgins was on his way to Mass in County Dublin
when three IRA men (Archie Doyle, Bill Gannon, Tim Coughlan) saw
him — apparently by chance — and killed him in hate-filled rage. As
one of the killers recalled: ‘seeing him and realising that it was not a
mistake, we were just taken over and incensed with hatred. You can
have no idea what it was like, with the memory of the [Civil War]
executions, and the sight of him just walking along on his own. We
started shooting from the car, then getting out of the car we continued
to shoot. We all shot at him; he didn’t have a chance.”

O’Higgins had been unarmed; he was shot many times and left to
die. So old Civil War hatreds claimed another victim, this time one
ruthlessly committed to Irish parliamentary, democratic government.
And in this instance IRA violence unintentionally helped to secure
those very political structures for whose defence its victim had been
shot. In the wake of O’Higgins’s death, the Free State authorities
legislated that prospective Dail candidates must swear to take the (to
republicans, despised) oath of allegiance to the British Crown, once
elected. The republican political party, Fianna Fail (founded in Dublin
in 1926 by Eamon de Valera), had resisted participation in the oath-
contaminated Ddil. Post-O’Higgins, the possibility of entering parlia-
mentary politics without taking the oath was narrowed; and so in
August 1927 de Valera (who had himself condemned O’Higgins’s
killing) led his party into the Dail and consolidated the Free State by
his effective sanction of its parliamentary politics. By his death, Kevin
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O’Higgins therefore helped to ensure the survival of that state to which
he had determinedly committed himself in life.

And the state thus consolidated was to be a cold place for the
IRA that had taken O’Higgins’s life. During the 1920s Cumann na
nGaedheal governments resolutely devoted themselves to building
up that southern Irish state which the IRA despised as a British-
imposed compromise. Independent Ireland was built by a regime
that attempted, not to inaugurate the millennium of the revolution-
ary imagination, but rather to rescue the nation from the chaos of
revolution. Indeed, against the continuing threat of IRA anti-state
activity, and following the violence and chaos of the War of Indepen-
dence and Civil War, the Free State’s achievement of stability by the
early 1930s was a striking (though, to IRA republicans, a disagreeable)
achievement. That stability had remained shaky as long as those in the
anti-Treaty tradition stayed aloof from the structures of the state. But
when de Valera and Fianna Fail gradually brought anti-Treaty opinion
within the constitutional fold, during the late 1920s and the 1930s, the
prospects for IRA momentum were diminished. If those who wanted
movement towards fuller republican freedom could progress through
politics and Fianna Fail parliamentarianism, then where was the role
for the IRA?

And progress there seemed to be. Fianna Fail had been born of de
Valera’s impatience with the make-believe world of post-Civil War
Irish republicanism. It was all very well maintaining that legitimate
authority in Ireland rested with those members of the 1921 Second
Déil who had opposed the Treaty and the Free State, or that such
authority lay within the IRA itself. But de Valera knew that real power
and serious authority lay in the structures of the new Irish state. As
one of his Fianna Fdil colleagues described the pre-1926 situation, ‘De
Valera was still president of the Irish republic, a shadow government
which governed nothing. He was president of Sinn Féin, a shadow
political party which took no part in practical politics. He decided that
this situation maist end.”® The 1926 foundation of Fianna Fail, in a
split from Sinn Féin, thus marked the beginning of the death of the
southern IRA as a serious political force. With its twin interlinked
goals of economic and political independence from Britain, and its
deft use of Free State structures to forward its goals, de Valera’s party
drew in, year by year, the bulk of anti-Treaty opinion. In doing so,
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it effectively constitutionalized southern Irish republicanism and
squeezed the IRA out of powerful existence.

De Valera saw Fianna Fail less as a political party than as a
revivification of the national movement, and as the embodiment
of the Irish nation. The party dismissed the IRA’s late-1920s efforts to
establish IRA-Fianna Fail-Sinn Féin unity. The IRA’s numbers had
suffered, post-revolution: in August 1924 the army had around 14,541
members; by November 1926 membership had fallen to 5,042.7 And
when Fianna Fail came to power after the 1932 Free State election, the
party was even less in need of its extra-constitutional former friends.
Not that the division between the two republican groups was immedi-
ately neat. The IRA had looked to Fianna Fiil to beat their own old
pro-Treatyite enemies, Cumann na nGaedheal, in the election; and in
the wake of de Valera’s victory, IRA people imprisoned by the former
regime were released. But any cosiness in the army’s relationship
with the new government was to prove short-lived. There was a very
different emphasis to the two bodies” approaches, as was evident from
a series of meetings between de Valera and the IRA’s Sean MacBride
shortly after the former had come to power through majoritarian
electoral process. In Wildean fashion (‘One should always play fairly
... when one has the winning cards’),® de Valera now demanded from
everyone the recognition of majority rule within the southern state:
‘once the oath [of allegiance to the British Crown under the 1921
Treaty] was removed there could be no objection to such a recognition
of majority rule and to recognising the Free State parliament as a
legitimate body’.

The post-1932 cabinet comprised the Civil War rebels of a decade
earlier; when power peacefully transferred from Cumann na nGaedheal
to Fianna Fail in March 1932, the new government became the
establishment within a state against which they had initially fought,
but which they now consolidated through their accession to power.
They were keen to woo republicans, and through their mixture of
social and symbolic policies — together with their offer of pensions to
ex-IRA men - they substantially managed to do just that. De Valera
during the 1930s undid most of what republicans felt to be unaccept-
able about the 1921 Treaty — land annuity payments to Britain, the
oath of allegiance to the British Crown, the office of Governor-General,
the right of appeal to the Privy Council, British access to Irish naval
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facilities, the 1922 Free State constitution. In doing so he proved,
ironically, that the stepping-stone argument of his pro-Treaty
opponent, Michael Collins, had been right. He also undermined the
rationale, in many southern Irish people’s eyes, for continued IRA
activity there. During the 1916-23 revolution itself, much of the
IRA’s competition had been with other Irish nationalists. So, too, in
independent Ireland in the 1930s it was fellow nationalists in Fianna
Fail who closed down the space for the republican army’s activities.

Initially, the IRA exuded confidence that it was they, rather than
de Valera’s constitutional party, who resonated with wider opinion.
In early 1933 the Army Council proclaimed, ‘There is a fine spirit
everywhere, and Fianna Fail people all say that their policy was far
behind the enthusiasm of republicans and what they expected. There
is frankly great disappointment amongst a large section of Fianna Fail
supporters.’'® The IRA tended to maintain their belief that, if only the
Irish people properly heard the arguments, and had these explained to
them, then they would of necessity understand and sympathize with
and indeed support the army. In this light, the IRA considered the
question of increasing the circulation of their paper, An Phoblacht —
for ‘no wonder the policy of the army is so badly understood since the
people know so little’.'' And the IRA of the 1930s retained some
romantic allure. As one recruit from these days proudly recalled, ‘1
joined the IRA in November 1934. To me it was the fulfilment of all
my aspirations, for to be sworn in as a soldier of the Irish Republican
Army had glamour, and there was a thrilling sensation in belonging to
it which only a secret, oath-bound society can give.’!?

But the 1930s arrival of Fianna Féil in government — for what was
to be a sixteen-year period in office — had undoubtedly changed the
context for the IRA, and they sensed as much. The Army Council itself
acknowledged early in the decade that ‘the advent to power of the
Fianna Fail party has made a difference, not fundamentally, but in
regard to the tactics which must be followed’. For Fianna Fdil had not
yet ‘taken any positive action detrimental to the republican cause;
theirs are sins of omission’. The propaganda of de Valera’s party was
more republican than its actions, and if this continued then they would
be exposed; but, for now, the IRA distinguished between the two main
Free State parties — de Valera’s and Cumann na nGaedheal: ‘A time
may come when it would be immaterial to us which Treatyite party is
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in office, but that time is not yet.” If Fianna Fail was not hostile to
republican ideals or organizations, then the IRA should make the most
of that new situation.”® The difficulty was that progress by the consti-
tutional de Valera undermined in many people’s eyes the rationale for
IRA support. As one republican activist ruefully recalled, ‘There were a
lot of people that thought [de Valera] was going slowly, but he was
going somewhere — and they were happy with it.”!

One ingenious attempt to differentiate the IRA’s approach from
that of the Fianna Fail leadership came from the army’s Connollyite
left. Prominent among the late-1920s and early-1930s IRA was a circle
including Peadar O’Donnell and George Gilmore, who sought to weld
together the arguments of socialism and Irish republicanism. Their
thesis was that the struggle of the oppressed nation (Ireland) against
the oppressor nation (England) was inextricably interwoven with the
conflict within Ireland between the oppressed classes and their social
oppressors. England ruled Ireland ultimately for economic advantage,
and the mechanism for this was the capitalist system which English
rule maintained there. Thus, those disadvantaged under capitalism,
and possessing an interest in seeing it removed, were those with an
economic imperative to pursue full freedom from England as a means
to their social emancipation. Likewise, those benefiting from capitalism
had an imperative to support the connection with England, as this
would maintain the economic system under which they flourished. If,
according to this intriguing argument, one wanted to identify those in
Ireland with a genuine impulse and commitment towards republican
separatism, then one should look to the working classes.

These left-wing IRA thinkers lamented the social conservatism of
the 1916-23 revolution.'” As Gilmore later suggested, “The form that a
struggle takes is bound to have a determining effect on its outcome’;'
the IRA’s revolutionary war had not been defined in Gilmore’s pre-
ferred terms, and so the disappointing outcome was unsurprising. To
avoid a repetition of this difficulty, the leftist republicans proposed
that post-revolutionary IRA politics be founded on what Gilmore
referred to as the ‘oneness of the struggle against national subjection
and social oppression in a subject nation’.’” Gilmore was aided in this
cause by his inner-circle IRA ally, Peadar O’Donnell, who had become
An Phoblacht editor in 1926. In 1931 O’Donnell was prominent in
the establishment of the largely paper-thin IRA offshoot, Saor Eire: an
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organization exhibiting rhetorical commitment to socialist revolution.
Saor Eire’s literature, largely produced by O’Donnell and by County
Tipperary IRA man David Fitzgerald, was indeed strikingly to the left.
The new group’s primary objectives were to ‘achieve an independent
revolutionary leadership for the working class and working farmers
towards the overthrow of British imperialism and its ally, Irish
capitalism’, and to establish ‘the possession and administration by the
workers and working farmers, of the land, instruments of production,
distribution and exchange’. Its primary method was to be the organiz-
ation of ‘committees of action among the industrial and agricultural
workers to lead the day-to-day struggle of the working class and
working farmers’.!® In practice, however, the IRA as a whole was not
committed to these goals and methods, and when the government and
Catholic Church turned on the young movement the army quickly
abandoned it.

But the socialist republicans within the IRA continued to adhere
committedly to their Connollyite vision, and to seek that the IRA as
an organization should define its republicanism in terms of necessary
class conflict. The O’Donnellite argument set the IRA left a consider-
able distance away from Fianna Fdil’s capitalist approach to Irish
nationalism. As O’Donnell himself put it, his quarrel with de Valera
was that the latter pretended to be a republican ‘while actually the
interests for which his party acts — Irish capitalism — are across the
road to the republic’.'® In this view, one could not be a true republican
unless one was — as part of the same struggle — committed to the
destruction of capitalism. The IRA in the 1930s refused to allow its
thinking to be defined in this way, and so O’Donnell, Gilmore and
other talented figures such as Frank Ryan left the army in 1934 to
form the short-lived, fissiparous Republican Congress. This group’s
manifesto lucidly set out in April that year the guiding principle of
sincere Irish socialist republicanism: ‘We believe that a republic of a
united Ireland will never be achieved except through a struggle which
uproots capitalisig on its way.’?°

Unfortunately for such left-wing activists, most Irish nationalists
did not believe this to be the case, and the socialist republican cause
went into comparative obscurity after the collapse of the Congress in
the later 1930s, and after the brave gesture of those Irish left-wingers
who went to fight against fascism in the Spanish Civil War. Just as
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James Connolly had been unable to stamp the republicanism of the
1916 rebellion with the definition of class conflict, so too the IRA of
the 1930s proved ultimately resistant to definition along the lines of
thoroughgoing socialist-republican fusion. The schismatic republican
left exasperated the more traditional comrades: Mary MacSwiney
winningly suggested in a letter of 1935 that ‘It would be a good thing
if P[eadar] O’D[onnell] and F[rank] R[yan] had their heads knocked
together until they learned sense.”?’ And their spectre could provoke
anxiety among those outside the movement too: pro-Treaty ideologues
such as James Hogan and Desmond FitzGerald wrote alarmedly about,
as the latter put it, the fear ‘that the country may go Bolshevist’.?? In
truth, such fears were exaggerated, and the Ireland of the day was an
inhospitable place for the republican left. Catholic anti-communism
was a powerful force in independent Ireland, the 1933 establishment
of the Communist Party of Ireland providing a telling example: its
inaugural congress took place in a room that had had to be hired
under a false name because of the anti-communistic atmosphere of the
times. (Veteran communist Sean Nolan recalled that the premises had
in fact been booked under the name of a total-abstinence group,
noting wryly that most of the communist delegates were indeed total
abstainers — not through principle, but because ‘we had no bloody
money!’)?

Yet the problems of the 1930s republican left went far beyond
this, and sometimes arose from the unpersuasive nature of their
own arguments. For, despite the obvious intelligence of people like
O’Donnell, Gilmore and Ryan, it could be argued that their reading of
history, of the relation between class and nation, of the mechanisms
of political power within the state, of the politics of land, of political
violence and of Irish unionism, reflected a less than firm grasp of Irish
political realities.?* Certainly, the majority of Irish republicans thought
as much: the legendary Tom Barry and others objected to the IRA
placing too much emphasis on the social side of the Irish question,
and not enough on the military. And as the political historian Henry
Patterson has observed in his fine study of the relationship between
socialism and modern Irish republicanism, ‘For almost thirty years
after the collapse of the Republican Congress, physical force separatism
was the overwhelmingly dominant form of republican activity.”?®

Not that the interwar IRA lacked a working-class basis. At the
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army’s March 1934 General Army Convention, the Belfast OC
observed: “The bulk of our members are unemployed . .. We have 460
men in Belfast but only about 150 working.’>* But the interwar army’s
centre of gravity lay within conspiratorial military action rather than
class-based, mass revolutionism. In the Free State (after 1937, Eire)
their list of violent acts made quite a gruesome catalogue. In Jan-
uary 1931 Patrick Carroll, allegedly an IRA informer, was shot dead
in Dublin. In March the IRA shot and killed in Tipperary a police
superintendent who had been too energetic in his anti-IRA activities
for the organization’s taste. In July they killed John Ryan at Oyle,
County Tipperary, a placard round his neck proclaiming: ‘Spies and
informers beware. IRA’. Ryan had given evidence in a prosecution for
illegal IRA drilling, and had in April received a threatening letter
stating that he had been found guilty of treachery, and that he would
be killed if found in the country after 17 May.

Yet these incidents should not suggest that the IRA’s military
machine was in great working order. In November 1932 the Army
Council wrote to their American allies, Clan na Gael, that when it
discussed ‘the cold reality of the situation, and its military possibilities,
it finds itself in a very strange position. The difficulty it is confronted
with is lack of ammunition principally, and of effective arms gener-
ally.’?” In February 1933 the situation was still depressing: ‘It is a
matter of urgency that ammunition ... should be sent along. Every
unit is demanding some for training and practice.””® In the same
month the Army Council stated that the IRA’s aim was to assert the
republic of Ireland’s sovereignty and unity, but its capacity to do this
with any degree of success was limited by numerous problems. One
was finance. At the army’s March 1934 GAC, Chief of Staff Moss
Twomey observed amid a discussion of finance that ‘Many things
which are good for the IRA are often left undone because the cost
which may be only £50 cannot be expended.” The IRA’s shortage of
funds prompted a successful proposal by the soon-to-depart Peadar
O’Donnell, to the effect ‘“That each unit shall as a minimum be
responsible for an amount equal to one penny per week per member,
arrears not to exceed three months without special sanction of Army
Council >

If money was a concern, then so too was security. At the same 1934
GAC Moss Twomey observed — again, almost poignantly — that the
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IRA had ‘endured frightful humiliation’ from the actions of its own
men, who had, when questioned, given ‘all the information at their
disposal to the police’. Yet while their conspiratorial politics therefore
faced obstacles, they remained deeply sceptical of more conventional,
constitutional politics. Sean MacBride (who was to leave the IRA four
years later, and who subsequently became a constitutional politican) in
the same year stated: ‘If we are a revolutionary organisation, it is futile
our going into parliament.”*® But figures like MacBride also recognized
how much ground had been lost by this stage to Fianna Fdil, and
acknowledged that the IRA had to attempt to win over those who
had backed, but who might now be disillusioned with, de Valera’s
party. Admittedly, the IRA could still embarrass the government. On
17 March 1936, while de Valera was delivering his St Patrick’s Day
broadcast over the radio, a voice was heard, saying: ‘Hello, everybody,
this is the IRA.” The speaker was then cut off and a second line put
into use; but the latter was also interfered with, apparently through a
tapped line.

And more deadly activities also preoccupied the army. In March
1936 Vice-Admiral Henry Boyle Townshend Somerville, a Protestant
who had helped local lads with joining the British forces, was killed by
the IRA in County Cork. Nobody was convicted for the killing, which
was authorized by Tom Barry and apparently carried out by Tadgh
Lynch, Angela Lynch and Joe Collins.>! The following month, former
IRA man John Egan was shot dead in Dungarvan, County Waterford,
by the IRA, having been suspected of giving the police information
that had led to the discovery of an arms dump and the imprisonment
of a number of IRA members. (Egan was apparently shot by order of
the Army Council, which perhaps makes Moss Twomey’s 1934 GAC
comments look, after all, rather less poignant.)

Though its origins and its government ministers had IRA roots, the
independent Ireland over which de Valera presided in these years was
now one deeply at odds with the IRA’s anti-majoritarian conspiratori-
alism. Young states are frequently concerned with challenges, internal
or external, to their sovereignty, and southern Ireland was no excep-
tion: de Valera’s regime came to pursue what they saw as an illegitimate
republican army, and they did so with marked determination. In
May 1936 four members of the IRA in County Tipperary (Michael
Conway, William O’Donoghue, Edmund Carrigan and John Tobin)
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were arrested in connection with John Egan’s murder and brought
before the state’s Military Tribunal in July. In June 1936 the IRA was
proscribed and its Chief of Staff, Moss Twomey, himself arrested and
brought before the Military Tribunal; he was sentenced to three years’
imprisonment for membership of an unlawful association. In Weberian
style, the independent Irish state defended its monopoly of the legit-
imate use of force within its territory; and it did so at the expense of
former comrades, some of whom were to pay the highest price during
the Second World War, as the ex-revolutionaries of Fianna Fail eclipsed
and defeated the IRA.

‘Today England is locked in a life and death struggle with
Germany and Italy. From what quarter shall the government
of the Irish Republic seek for aid? The lesson of history is
plain. England’s enemy is Ireland’s ally.’

The IRA’s War News, 16 November 1940

During 1939-45 there were four key contexts for IRA activity: within
independent Ireland, in the army’s bombing campaign of Britain, in
their dealings with Nazi Germany and in their activities in Northern
Ireland. In the first of these, wartime exigency further hardened the
state’s resolve to oppose subversives within its boundaries. Effectively
defenceless itself, neutral Eire relied on Britain for air and sea defence;
IRA activities against Britain or in favour of her enemies could
dangerously antagonize the neighbour on whom a vulnerable Irish
state depended, and towards whom de Valera’s neutrality benevolently
leaned.?? The, 1939 Offences Against the State Act strengthened the
authorities’ hand: it allowed for the establishment of special criminal
courts, prohibited seditious activities (including membership of pro-
scribed organizations), and increased the state’s powers of search,
arrest and detention. A 1940 amendment to the state’s 1939 Emergency
Powers Act was also significant for the IRA, providing as it did for the
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summary trial of certain offences by a military tribunal with the sole
sanction of execution upon conviction. Thus, not only were hundreds
of republicans lengthily detained during the war, but a number of IRA
men were also executed in the 1940s. The Royal Ulster Constabulary
(RUC) in Belfast noted of de Valera that ‘His government was and is
as strongly opposed to the IRA as that in the north, and has passed
legislation to deal with it far more drastic than anything introduced
here.’??

In September 1939 raids by the Irish authorities against the IRA
captured most of that organization’s HQ officers and some of its
money. But the favour could be returned. On 23 December that year
the IRA raided the (state) Irish Army’s Magazine Fort in Phoenix Park,
Dublin, and stole most of the Army’s reserves of small-arms ammu-
nition. Much of the material was quickly recovered; but the embarrass-
ment took longer to deal with. At the subsequent court of inquiry into
the raid, the officer in charge of the Magazine Fort stated that he had
repeatedly protested to his seniors regarding the strength of the guard,
but that he had been ‘informed that there were no men available’.>* It
appears that late in 1939 a Department of Defence civil servant had
presented to the IRA a scheme for raiding the fort, a scheme which
clearly appealed to an army itself very short of ammunition. On
23 December, therefore, an IRA man came up to the gate of the fort
with (as ever!) a bicycle, on which there was a parcel. Addressing the
military policeman (Daniel Merrigan) on the gate, the raider said that
the parcel was for the officer commanding the fort. Merrigan opened
the lock and was about to open the gate itself when the man produced
a revolver, pointed it at Merrigan’s face and said — in classic B-movie
style — ‘Stick them up.” The IRA thus entered the fort at around
8.45 p.m., were in complete control of it ten minutes later and had com-
pleted their job and departed by around 10.30. They took with them
471,979 rounds of .303 machine-gun ammunition, 612,300 rounds of
Thompson gun ammunition, 12 rounds of .45 revolver ammunition,
3 bayonets, 4 scabbards, 7 rifle magazines, 3 rifle slings, 3 oil bottles, 3
pull-throughs, 4 Lee Enfield rifles and 1 Webley revolver.

But the authorities themselves hit back some days later when, on
29 December, the IRA’s broadcasting station and radio transmitter,
which had been used for broadcasting propaganda, were captured by
the police in Dublin, along with IRA men Jack McNeela, Jack Plunkett,
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James Byrne and James Mongan. Early in the New Year, IRA man
Tomés MacCurtain fatally shot a detective while resisting arrest in
Cork. The police had become aware that there was a certain amount
of trafficking in firearms in which MacCurtain was involved; on 3
January two detective officers accosted him and informed him that he
was under arrest. Fatally shooting one of them, MacCurtain was none
the less overpowered and sentenced to death for the officer’s killing.
The sentence was commuted to life imprisonment, of which he served
eight years. MacCurtain neatly encapsulates some of the ironies of IRA
experience in these years. Born in 1915, he was the son of the similarly
named IRA man and Sinn Féin lord mayor of Cork, killed in 1920;
MacCurtain junior had joined the IRA in 1932, aged only seventeen,
and was now incarcerated in the tradition of his father, by a regime
presided over by his father’s revolutionary comrades. Others in the
diehard tradition were also locked up, with the authorities during
wartime interning large numbers of IRA men in detention camps at
the Curragh in County Kildare.

Some incarcerated republicans protested vigorously. In February
1940 Tomas MacCurtain, Thomas Grogan, Michael Traynor, Tony
D’Arcy, Jack McNeela and Jack Plunkett went on hunger strike in
Dublin’s Mountjoy Jail. Their principal demand was to be able to walk
around the prison freely, rather than being confined to their cells at
4 p.m. each day. Wanting free association for all prisoners, their
gesture was effectively a protest against IRA men being treated as
criminals, as non-soldiers, in a battle that modern readers will recog-
nize as pre-echoing the protests of a later IRA. There were resonances
too in the authorities’ preparedness to allow hunger-strikers to die,
which D’Arcy did on 16 April, McNeela following him three days later.
In September of the same year the authorities executed two IRA men,
Patrick McGrath and Thomas Harte, in Mountjoy. These were cold
days in what the IRA scorned as a deeply unfree Irish state.

But their difficulties in independent Ireland were partly internal
too, as thejr wartime conspiracy became engulfed in a paranoid
darkness. The most striking example of this was the case of Stephen
Hayes. Born in Enniscorthy (County Wexford) in 1896, Hayes had
taken part in the 1919-21 War of Independence and had remained
an IRA man beyond the revolution. Appointed the army’s Adjutant-
General in October 1938, he had been left in charge of the IRA by
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the late-1930s Chief of Staff, Sean Russell, when the latter went to the
United States in 1939. This was itself a reflection of the IRA’s paucity
of talent (as the heavy-drinking Hayes himself recalled: ‘T only took
over from Russell when he went to America because there was no
one else and Russell begged me to do it");>> and when Russell died in
1940 without having returned to Ireland, the IRA was in very shaky
hands. In an attempt to reorganize the disoriented army, Hayes fate-
fully appointed two Belfast men to IRA GHQ Staff in the spring of
1941, Sean McCaughey becoming Adjutant-General, Charlie McGlade
Quartermaster-General. By midway through that year, however, sus-
picion had arisen of treachery within the IRA. The large-scale arrests
of Volunteers in Ireland and England had helped convince some
senior army figures (including McCaughey, McGlade and fellow
northerners Liam Burke and Liam Rice) that Hayes himself was the
traitor.

In this Dostoyevskian world of suspicion, the northerners of the
disunited Irish Republican Army captured Chief of Staff Hayes at his
County Dublin home on 30 June 1941 and took him to an isolated
cottage in the mountains near Dundalk for interrogation. In the IRA’s
own words, Hayes had been ‘arrested and charged with treachery and
conspiracy to betray the republic, and imprisoned’.*¢ An Army Council
was formed (Sean McCaughey, Eoin McNamee, Charlie McGlade,
Sean Harrington, Jack Lynch, Tom Mullally, Stephen Rynne, Andy
Skelton, Joe Atkinson), and this body convened a court-martial, with
McCaughey as prosecutor. Hayes had been moved to a house in
Rathmines, Dublin, and it was there that the court-martial was held
on 23 July. It consisted of McCaughey, Pearse Kelly, Charlie McCarthy
and Tom Farrell, with Charlie McGlade, Liam Rice and Liam Burke
also in attendance. In Hayes’s own account, this court-martial ‘was
really a mixture between a schoolboy rag and an American gangster
film’.>” Gangster film or not, it possessed lethal potential for the
suspected traitor. Hayes was court-martialled on the charges, first, that
he had ‘conspired with the “Irish Free State government” to obstruct
the policy and impede the progress of the IRA’ and, second, that he
was ‘guilty of treachery by having deliberately forwarded information,
of a secret and confidential nature concerning the activities of the IRA,
to a hostile body, to wit, the “Irish Free State government”’. He was
found guilty on both charges and sentenced to death, ‘the president of
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the court stating that the accused was a party to the most heinous
conspiracy of crime in Irish history’.?®

The discredited leader then volunteered (or was forced) to write a
confession, and in this document he admitted having been involved
in a conspiracy with the Dublin government ‘to wreck the IRA’.*
Thus the execution of sentence was deferred while Hayes slowly
wrote confessional page upon page of inculpatory material, trying —
as he later said — to buy himself time. Sean McCaughey took extracts
of this confession as it was being produced to show to former IRA
man, Sean MacBride — who had not yet embarked upon his future
role as an international human rights campaigner — while awaiting the
moment when the IRA would shoot their court-martialled leader. The
confession-writing continued until 8 September 1941, when Hayes
managed to escape and give himself up at the nearby Rathmines garda
(police) station, where he identified himself and asked for protective
custody. In June 1942 he was sentenced to five years’ penal servitude
by the Special Criminal Court, for maintenance of an illegal force.

But his captors had themselves not escaped cleanly from the
episode. Armed detectives raided the house in which Hayes had been
held. On their approach they were fired upon by Liam Rice, who
was wounded when the police returned fire. Rice was charged with
attempted murder, and in April 1942 was sentenced to twenty years’
imprisonment. Sean McCaughey was also arrested by the authorities in
Dublin, and charged with the unlawful imprisonment and mistreat-
ment of Hayes; found guilty, he was sentenced to death. This was then
commuted to penal servitude for life, with McCaughey being incarcer-
ated in Portlaoise Prison until his death on hunger strike in May 1946.
He had refused to wear criminal clothes, therefore wearing only a
blanket, and had embarked on his hunger strike in an attempt to win
unconditional release. And there was a painful sadness to his bleak
demise: even the far from sympathetic Noel Browne — who, as a later
Minister for Health, inspected the deeply underground cell in which
McCaughey had died — observed that this was ‘a truly awful place in
which to die, hungry or not’.*® As the later Provisional republicans
were to put it, in de Valera’s 1940s Ireland, ‘Many who remained
faithful to the republic proclaimed in 1916 ... were now suffering the
untold torture of years of solitary confinement in the dungeons of
Portlaoise prison.’*!
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Hayes himself lived until December 1974, and maintained his
innocence right up to his death. He claimed that the confession was
not a genuine account of events, that his captors had tortured and
starved him (and there is no shortage of evidence concerning the IRA’s
use of brutal interrogation methods during this period towards those
whom they suspected of informing).*> Whatever the reality, most IRA
members had been unaware of Hayes’s capture and were understand-
ably dismayed when news of the sorry events did emerge. Either the
IRA Chief of Staft had been a traitor, or a loyal Chief of Staff had been
imprisoned and brutally treated by paranoid officers near the top of
the army. Neither story was good for the organization’s morale, as
feuding, suspicion and conspiracy theses divided the ineffective IRA.
As one republican of this period later put it: ‘For the IRA the Stephen
Hayes case was a Catch 22 situation. If he was guilty it did them harm
in a public relations sense, if not it was even worse.’+}

Yet, notwithstanding such farcically tragic episodes, the IRA
retained a striking sense of its own role and importance in Ireland’s
destiny. In 1942 the organization issued a special manifesto which
restated ‘the national principles actuating the IRA’, and outlined its
‘attitude in relation to the present world situation in the light of those
principles’. The manifesto contained much that was traditional:

The IRA is determined to obtain and maintain the right of the
people of Ireland to the unfettered control of Irish destinies,
guaranteeing civil and religious liberty, equal rights and equal
opportunities to all its citizens. The maintenance of sectarian strife
forms no part of the policy of the IRA ... In view of the fact that
the free consent of the Irish people has not been obtained for the
present occupation of north-east Ireland by British and allied
forces, the IRA reserves the right to use whatever measures present
themselves to clear this territory of such forces . .. The occupation
of a part of Ireland by British and American forces is in itself an
act of aggression.*

And the army deployed not only rhetoric. On 9 September 1942
Detective Sergeant Denis ‘Dinny’ O’Brien was shot dead by the IRA
in Rathfarnham in Dublin. O’Brien had been seen by the army as an
overly keen anti-republican. He had, in fact, been a long-time IRA
man until the 1930s when - like many other Irish nationalists — he had
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become convinced of the legitimacy of de Valera’s state. His ambush
was organized by Archie Doyle (one of the killers of Kevin O’Higgins
in 1927), and in December 1944 Kerry IRA man Charlie Kerins was
executed in Dublin for the killing.

Again, in late 1942, during the police searches following O’Brien’s
death, the IRA killed a detective-garda in a Dublin shoot-out. Another
Kerry IRA man, Maurice O’Neill, was executed in connection with this
killing; also involved in the fatal skirmish was Harry White, one of the
IRA’s leading figures in the 1940s (and the uncle of latter-day republi-
can, Danny Morrison). Born in Belfast, White had joined the IRA
young. Only released from the Curragh earlier in 1942, he escaped
from the shoot-out and was not captured for several years. He was
eventually tried before Dublin’s Military Tribunal in December 1946
and sentenced to death; in the event, the charge was commuted to
manslaughter and he served only a fraction of this twelve-year sentence.
In the 1940s Harry White was OC IRA Northern Command, and
during 1944-6 he was also the army’s Chief of Staff.+>

But the decade of his prominence was a dark one for the IRA in
independent Ireland. The army had considerable damage inflicted
upon it, with episodes such as the July 1943 machine-gunning of
Jacky Griffith in Dublin by the Special Branch. And it also, despite
the confused and divided nature of the Eire IRA, caused some serious
damage. On 10 March 1943 Dublin IRA man Eamon Smullen had very
seriously wounded (by shooting him in the back) a man who had
given evidence in the Special Criminal Court resulting in the conviction
of the IRA’s Sean Gallagher on a charge of armed intimidation.
Smullen himself was then arrested and sentenced to fourteen years’
imprisonment. Before his trial, armed IRA members tried to intimi-
date witnesses into not giving evidence; after it, a boy whom the IRA
suspected of having given information leading to Smullen’s arrest was
fired on and wounded in the groin. Such low-level, ineffectual brutality
characterized the army’s dismal Eire performance during the war years.
Their violent,intentions (which apparently even included a plot to kill
the poet John Betjeman, who as press attaché to the British ambassador
in Dublin sent back regular intelligence briefings to London during the
war), amounted to little in terms of their gaining any momentum.
De Valera’s state rested on the support of the vast majority of the
population, and the government showed ruthless resolve in suppressing
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an alternative army fighting in the name of the tradition from which
they themselves had emerged.

What of the IRA’s second theatre of operations, Britain itself? In
October 1938 the army set out their aims and self-image, as ‘an active,
effective bulwark against the submergence of Ireland by British imperi-
alism’; as ‘an all-Ireland force’ aiming ‘to assert the sovereignty and
unity of the republic proclaimed in Easter Week 1916; to enable a
government of the republic to function freely, and to destroy the power
of British imperialism in Ireland’. There was here little doubt about
the identity of the enemy: ‘England is the enemy of Ireland’s freedom.
The English have partitioned our country. They enforce partition by
bayonets and are responsible for the persecution and victimisation of
Irish citizens in north-east Ulster.’*® Following this logic, the obvious
target for IRA violence might be thought to be the old enemy itself.
In order to rest on secure republican foundations, however, the IRA
first sought to gain possession of truly legitimate authority. In the late
1930s this, in their view, rested with the remnant of the 1921 Second
Dail — those who still embodied what to diehard republicans remained
the last authentic, uncorrupted authority in Ireland. Thus in December
1938, before launching its bombing campaign in Britain, the IRA Army
Council approached the Executive Council of the Second Dail,*”
looking to have the latter’s authority passed directly to it. On 8
December this handover of legitimacy took place, with the IRA Army
Council taking over ‘the government of the republic of Ireland’.*
The IRA leadership could now (in their own view, at least) speak to
the British as one government to another.

The central figure behind the forthcoming British campaign was
Sean Russell, who had become Chief of Staff in 1938.#° He had already
publicly announced his plan to bomb Britain while in the USA in
1936; and his enthusiasm for attacking Britain directly was shared by
leading Irish-American republican Joseph McGarrity, whom Russell
had known since the 1920s. McGarrity controlled Clan na Gael in the
USA and was an important ally of Russell, whose British campaign was
funded with US Irish republican money. A GAC in Dublin in April
1938 had approved the British endeavour, and from that October
onwards groups of IRA men were brought back from England to
Dublin for training, the main bomb-making instructors being Patrick
McGrath and Jim O’Donovan. It was O’Donovan who drew up the
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S-plan, as the bombing campaign’s blueprint was called, with the
targets including military installations, BBC transmitters, communica-
tions centres, bridges and aerodromes.

In December 1938 key IRA men were sent to various British centres
(Glasgow, London, Manchester, Liverpool and Birmingham) and
found the IRA organization to be in a poor state when they arrived.
But on 12 January 1939 the army none the less sent an ultimatum to
the British, calling for withdrawal from Ireland. Four days later, an
IRA declaration (signed on behalf of “The Republican Government and
the Army Council of Oglaigh na hEireann (Irish Republican Army)’ by
Stephen Hayes, Peadar O’Flaherty, Laurence Grogan, Patrick Fleming,
George Plunkett and Sean Russell) pointedly referred back to the 1916
Proclamation and the 1919 Declaration of Independence, and outlined
the IRA’s intention of completing the republican task: ‘The armed
forces of England still occupy six of our counties in the North ... We
call upon England to withdraw her armed forces, her civilian officials
and institutions, and representatives of all kinds from every part of
Ireland.”*® The British failing to do the necessary, there began an IRA
bombing campaign with explosions on 16 January in London, Liver-
pool, Manchester and Birmingham. The IRA’s Volunteers had taken
the war to England, armed with what one of their teenage number
referred to as his ‘Sinn Féin conjuror’s outfit’ a suitcase ‘containing
Pot. Chlor., Sulph. Ac., gelignite, detonators, electrical and ignition’ —
the ingredients for making bombs.>!

In July 1939, measures were introduced in the London House of
Commons to try to deal with the republican threat. By that month, as
the British Home Secretary Samuel Hoare informed the House, there
had been 127 IRA incidents in Britain since January: it was clear, he
said, ‘that in the early chapters of the campaign the attempt was
intended against property and not against human life’. None the less,
‘during the period of these outrages one man was killed in Manchester,
one man lost his eye in Piccadilly . .. and fifty-five persons have been
seriously or less seriously injured’.>> The most horrific incident was yet
to occur: on 25 August a bomb in Coventry killed five people and
injured many more. The person planting the bomb had panicked and
left it in an unintended and crowded part of the city. Two people —
neither of whom had planted the device — were hanged in February
1940 in connection with the bombing (one had helped with the process
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of preparing and carrying the explosives used; the other had assembled
the bomb).

Shortly before the bombing campaign, Sean Russell had claimed
that it was ‘very clear’ to him that reasonable success would be
achieved.>® In reality, however, the IRA’s endeavour was markedly
ineffective, and fizzled out without any real positive achievement. It
trickled over into 1940, but had by then not much life in it. Even a
comparatively sympathetic observer of IRA history could describe the
bombing campaign as ‘appallingly ill-conceived’,>* and it is unclear
precisely how the IRA had anticipated that it would produce the
desired result. There was little likelihood that the rather inept and low-
level IRA attacks that occurred would determine UK policy regarding
Ireland. Yet, shambolic though it was, the IRA’s campaign reflected the
persistence of a neo-Fenian, activist tradition which pointed backwards
as well as forwards in the IRA’s story. Danny Morrison’s uncle Harry
was active in this campaign, going to London in 1938 and subsequently
planting incendiaries there. County Tyrone’s Eoin McNamee (who was
to side with the Provisional IRA when they emerged several decades
later) was another of those key IRA men sent to Britain (in his case,
London) in the December in preparation for the campaign. Packie
Connolly also was involved in 1939: arrested in London late that year,
he was sentenced to seven years for possession and control of explosive
substances and spent his incarceration in Brixton, Maidstone and
Albany Prisons. He was born in 1915; his grandfather had been killed
by the brutal Black and Tans in 1920, and his uncle had been killed in
action against Free State forces in 1922. He himself had joined the IRA
in 1931 and had continued his republican activism after emigrating to
England in 1936.

If there was in the British campaign drama overlain with ineffective-
ness, then the dramatic qualities of the IRA’s third arena — that
involving its international links — were at times flavoured by something
more sinister. American support had been crucial to the British
campaign, and, as noted earlier, some IRA and former IRA men had
courageously gone to fight against fascism in Spain during the 1936-9
civil war there (though a far larger Irish contingent, more representa-
tive of contemporary Irish nationalist opinion, had gone to fight on
the other side).’> The most famous Irish volunteer in Spain, Frank
Ryan, had led a body to join the International Brigades in 1936.
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Captured in 1938, he was in 1940 handed over to the Germans and
taken to Berlin. There was considerable irony in Ryan’s having gone to
Spain to fight fascism, only to end up as a ‘distinguished guest’ in Nazi
Germany, ‘drawing double rations’.*® Much sadness too, as his health
deteriorated and he died in Dresden in June 1944 of pneumonia. But
Ryan’s unfortunate fate reflected the fact that, during the Second
World War, Nazi German and Irish republican interests seemed to
coincide. Both the German authorities and Ryan himself envisaged a
wartime synergy between their respective anti-British projects just as,
from a different republican tradition, Sean Russell himself had sought
help from the Nazis. Russell had arrived in Berlin in May 1940, and
while in Germany underwent bomb-making and sabotage training. He
had sought German support for IRA activities since as early as 1936,
and engaged in talks with the German Foreign Office regarding IRA-
German cooperation. The Germans apparently thought that, given the
IRA’s attitude towards Britain, this army constituted their natural
wartime allies. Russell was supposed to return to Ireland with a view
to fomenting an uprising in the north, which would benefit Germany
during the war. With Frank Ryan — with whom he had been reunited
in Germany — Russell therefore set out in 1940 on a U-boat, on which
he died (apparently due to a perforated stomach ulcer); he was buried
at sea, wrapped in a swastika.

Thus neither Russell nor Ryan was to see his country again, and
yet the German liaison in which they had, in different ways, become
involved demands some attention. During the late 1930s there had
been repeated IRA contacts with Nazi Germany: England’s enemies
were perceived to be the army’s obvious friends, a point which grew
sharper with the onset of war. In November 1940 the IRA set out its
thinking lucidly enough: ‘In every generation when an effort was about
to be made to break the connection with England, Irishmen sought
the help of those who strove for the downfall of England.” Instances
were offered of Irish rebellions from the past: 1798, 1803, 1848, 1867,
1916. ‘Today pthe IRA continued] England is locked in a life and death
struggle with Germany and Italy. From what quarter shall the govern-
ment of the Irish Republic seek for aid? The lesson of history is plain.
England’s enemy is Ireland’s ally.’>’

Earlier in the year, the army had proclaimed confidently that “With
the assistance of our victorious European allies, and by the strength



64 HISTORY

and courage of the Irish Republican Army, Ireland will achieve absolute
independence within the next few months ... England is now on her
last legs!’>®* Some months later, the IRA — the self-styled ‘mailed fist of
the Irish people’ — explicitly refused ‘to recognise the present neutrality
of Eire, because of the fact that the aggressor has already invaded
Ireland. Consequently, the [Irish Republican] Army declared war on
the aggressor, which is being waged since January 12, 1939. In spite of
the assertions of neutrality made by the present Irish government, the
army will continue its warfare against Britain until the ultimate victory
is won.” For their part, the Irish authorities were certainly anxious
regarding IRA-Nazi links: ‘A constant problem is the question of the
possibility of cooperation between the IRA and Germany ... The IRA
in their propaganda have repeatedly stated that any enemy of England
is their friend and will obtain their cooperation.®® And the links went
beyond the rhetorical, and far beyond Russell and Ryan. German agent
Oskar Pfaus had arrived in Ireland in February 1939 in order to liaise
with the IRA. He established contact with the Army Council and
arranged for the IRA’s Jim O’Donovan (the man behind the British
bombing campaign S-plan) to visit Germany, which he did repeatedly
between February and August that year. During these visits plans were
made for the IRA to assist Germany against Britain through sabotage
and espionage in Britain and Northern Ireland.

Abwehr agent Herman Goertz arrived in Ireland in May 1940 (one
of his aims being to prompt northern republicans into rebellion)
but was detained the following year. He had himself quickly become
disillusioned with the IRA and had pursued his goals without them,
by trying to obtain intelligence inside Northern Ireland. Achieving
little success, Goertz poisoned himself rather than face deportation
to Germany. Shortly after his capture, Jim O’Donovan (the primary
Nazi-republican link) was interned and, as a consequence, the IRA-
German connection was greatly weakened. More feeble still was the
career of Abwehr agent Ernst Weber Drohl (a former circus strong-
man: ‘Atlas the Strong’). He arrived in Ireland in February 1940, but
mislaid his radio transmitter when landing from the U-boat. Quickly
taken by the authorities, he epitomized the ultimately fruitless alliance
between the IRA and the Nazis.

The IRA of the mid-twentieth century contained people with a
range of ideological instincts (though Catholic nationalism was promi-



New States 65

nent: in the words of one member, ‘many understood themselves
as good and holy men for good and holy causes, a la Terence Mac
Swiney’).®! But it is important to note where anti-Britishness had led
the IRA during the Second World War: ostensibly fighting oppression
and tyranny, they here sided with a force far more oppressive and
tyrannical than Britain. Clearly, the IRA’s primary motivation was
simply alliance with their enemy’s enemy (though, in the case of the
legendary hero of the Irish revolution, Dan Breen, pro-Nazi sympathy
lived on beyond the Second World War itself).5> And the fact remains
that, faced with one of the twentieth century’s genuinely world-
threatening tyrants, the IRA had opted for alliance rather than oppo-
sition. As one republican later reflected of her wartime sympathy for
Hitler: ‘At the time, anyone that was beating the English, we were for
them. We thought that way. But how wrong we were. How wrong we
were,’®?

What of the fourth field of operations, Northern Ireland? Stephen
Hayes’s prosecutor, Sean McCaughey, had pressed from 1940 for the
IRA to take action in the north against the British and to seek military,
material German aid in doing so. As with the British bombing
campaign, there was a certain IRA logic to attacking the north: for it
was in the north that British control of Ireland stood out most clearly
and painfully. If both Irish states had, after the revolution, settled
down to a quasi-confessional order (Catholic in the south, Protestant
in the north), then that in the north left a more significant internal
minority disaffected from the state’s arrangement. Where southern
Protestants comprised a mere fraction of the population by mid-
century, in the north a third of the population could understandably
feel that they were on the wrong side of the border, in a state
emphatically at odds with their traditions and culture. Northern
Catholics were the main losers from partition, paying the price for the
political exigencies and interests of others (Ulster unionists, southern
nationalists, the British state). But anxious about a hostile neighbour-
ing state to the south (whose 1937 constitution laid claim to Northern
Ireland’s territory), and about potential betrayal from London, unionist
governments in Belfast also felt concern about the sizeable nationalist
minority within their borders, who did not think Northern Ireland a
legitimate political entity. A division was drawn between those loyal
aud those disloyal; but in Ireland confessional background and political
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